Sodium Butyrate and Calcium Phosphate Influence on Transformed Human Mast Cells

by

Nishita Hiresha Verma

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Materials Engineering

Department of Chemical and Materials Engineering

University of Alberta

© Nishita Hiresha Verma, 2024

Abstract:

Mast cells (MCs) are crucial components of the innate immune system, playing a significant role in immune responses to allergens and pathogens. These sentinel cells are primarily located at interfaces between the external environment and the body and can be categorized into connective tissue MCs and mucosal MCs. MRGPRX2 is a G protein-coupled receptor that plays a key role in MC activation, particularly in response to certain drugs, peptides, and endogenous compounds. Recent studies have shown that MRGPRX2 can mediate pseudo-allergic reactions and contribute to MC-related diseases. Sodium Butyrate (NaBu) is a histone deacetylase inhibitor that exhibits anti-inflammatory properties by altering gene expression and promoting regulatory T-cell differentiation. Calcium phosphate (Ca₃(PO₄)₂) has been shown to be vital to calcium signaling and immune response modulation. It is thought that MRGPRX2 receptors are modulated in the presence of these compounds because of their known roles in immune regulation. We hypothesize that the introduction of these two compounds will modulate MRGPRX2-mediated activation in HMC-1.2 cells. The HMC-1.2 cell line was used since these cells have MRGPRX2 receptors. This hypothesis was tested by introducing HMC-1.2 cells to these compounds in a dose-dependent manner and characterizing cell viability, proliferation, and degranulation. It was found that NaBu did not affect MRGPRX2-mediated degranulation or cell viability but inhibited cell proliferation, suggesting selective modulation of immune responses without compromising essential MC functions. Moreover, Ca₃(PO₄)₂ did not significantly impact MRGPRX2mediated degranulation but did exhibit a dose-dependent inhibition of cell proliferation, suggesting an influence on cellular growth without MRGPRX2 response. Our results did not confirm our hypothesis, as they did not lead to MRGPRX2-mediated responses in HMC-1.2 cells. That said, these findings did show an inhibition of cell proliferation that may be applicable to managing inflammatory and allergic diseases. Further research is recommended to explore the precise pathways and conditions under which these

compounds can modulate immune cell function, particularly focusing on different immune cell types and receptor-specific pathways.

Keywords: Mast Cells, MRGPRX2 Activation, Sodium Butyrate, Calcium Phosphate, Immune Response, Modulation

Preface:

This thesis is an original work by Nishita Hiresha Verma. I was responsible for the data collection, data analysis, and manuscript writing.

Part of Chapter 2 of this thesis has been submitted to be published as "Butyrate increases glycosaminoglycan synthesis and storage in human mast cells," *Cells* 2024, *13*; Syed Benazir Alam, Zhimin Yan, Nishita Hiresha Verma, Larry D. Unsworth, and Marianna Kulka.

A part of the research in Chapter 2 of this thesis has also been shared at the following scientific conferences:

- Oral and poster presentation: "Identification and *In-Vitro* Evaluation of Peptide Inhibitors of Mast Cell Receptor MRGPRX2," Deep Tech in Health + Medical Innovation, October 16-17, 2023, Edmonton, Alberta.
- Poster presentation: "Sodium butyrate modulates human mast cell activation through MRGPRX2," ImmuNet Research Day, June 23, 2023, Edmonton, Alberta.

Dr. Larry D. Unsworth and Dr. Marianna Kulka were the supervisory authors and were involved with concept formation and manuscript composition.

Dedication:

This thesis is dedicated to the two pillars of my life: my mother, whose love and sacrifices have been the foundation of my strength, and my brother, whose guidance and support have continually inspired and motivated me. Their unwavering belief in me has shaped this journey in ways I will always cherish.

Acknowledgement:

To my inspiration, my mom, Dr. Hiresha Verma, thank you for your unwavering support and boundless love, which have illuminated my path and inspired me to pursue my dreams. I also extend my heartfelt thanks to my elder brother, Dr. Anish Hiresha Verma, who has been my mentor and whose belief in my potential has continually fueled my journey to success.

As an international M.Sc. student, my journey has been a roller coaster ride, brimming with invaluable lessons and stimulating challenges. I am profoundly grateful to my supervisors, Dr. Larry D. Unsworth, Dept. of Chemical and Materials Engineering, and Dr. Marianna Kulka, Quantum and Nanotechnologies Research Centre, National Research Council, Canada, for providing me with an opportunity to be a part of their research group. Their support and guidance have been instrumental in my personal and professional development.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the team at the Quantum and Nanotechnologies Research Centre, National Research Council, Canada: Dr. Shammy Raj, Dr. Narcy Arizmendi, Dr. Benazir Alam, Dr. Zhimin Yan, Feng Weng, Valentyna Semenchenko, Marcus Pehar, and Sabrina Rodrigues who eased my transition into the lab and who helped me with all instrumental and lab technical issues.

I would also like to thank my lab mates from the Dept. of Chemical and Materials Engineering: Dr. Mehdi Ghaffari Sharaf, Dr. Indu Sharma, Kosala Waduthanthri, Vida Dehghan Niestanak, Aishwarya Pawar, Ayda Ghahremanzadeh, and Jessica Chin. Despite our differing projects, they have always been open to discussing my experimental ideas and provided a much-needed respite from the rigours of academic life.

Further, I would like to thank my rental home landlord, Silvana R. Fazio, for providing all the amenities I needed to be comfortable while doing my research.

Thank you to everyone who contributed to the wonderful memories of my M.Sc. journey!

Table of contents

Chapter 1: Introduction1
1.1 Background1
1.1.1 Role and Importance of Mast Cells in Immunity1
1.1.2 Key Mast Cell Receptors 2
1.1.3 MRGPRX2 and its Significance7
1.1.4 Role of MRGPRX2 in Mast Cell Activation9
1.1.5 Activating MCs using Compound 48/80 and A2318710
1.1.6 Applications of Inhibition of MRGPRX2 in Mast Cell Disorders
1.1.7 Overview of NaBu and Its Biological Implication14
1.1.8 Biological Role of Calcium Phosphate15
1.1.9 Transformed Human Mast cells: HMC 1.2 cell line16
1.2 Hypothesis
1.3 Research Objectives 17
1.4 Organization of Thesis17
Chapter 2: Sodium Butyrate Inhibits Cell Proliferation and Viability at High Concentrations in Transformed Human Mast Cells Without Impacting MRGPRX2-Induced Degranulation
2.1 Introduction
2.1.1 Chemical Properties of NaBu18
2.1.2 Biological Functions of NaBu19
2.1.3 NaBu in Mast Cells
2.2 Methods

2.2.1 HMC 1.2 Cell Culture and Maintenance
2.2.2 NaBu Treatment 21
2.2.3 Cell Proliferation and Viability Assessed Using the Trypan Blue Exclusion Method 21
2.2.4 XTT Assay
2.2.5 β-hexosaminidase Assay22
2.3 Results
2.3.1 Cell Proliferation and Viability Post-NaBu Treatment24
2.3.2 Metabolic Activity Effect Post-NaBu Treatment
2.3.3 NaBu-induced Mast Cells Degranulation28
2.4 Discussion
2.4.1 NaBu Inhibits Proliferation but not Viability at lower Concentrations
2.4.2 High Concentration of NaBu reduces Metabolic Activity of HMC 1.2
2.4.3 NaBu and Cell Viability
2.4.4 NaBu and MRGPRX2-Induced Degranulation
2.5 Conclusion
Chapter 3: Calcium Phosphate (Ca ₃ (PO ₄) ₂) Inhibits Cell Proliferation Without Affecting Viability and Has No Significant Effect on MRGPRX2-Induced Degranulation in Transformed Human Mast Cells
3.1 Introduction
3.1.1 Chemical Structure of Ca ₃ (PO ₄) ₂
3.1.2 The Multifaceted Role of Ca3(PO4)2 in Mast Cell Function and Disease
3.2 Methods
3.2.1 Cell lines used (HMC 1.2) and their Maintenance
3.2.2 Ca ₃ (PO ₄) ₂ Treatment
3.2.3 Cell Proliferation and Viability Assessed Using the Trypan Blue Exclusion Method 36

3.2.4 β-hexosaminidase Assay
3.3 Results
3.3.1 Cell Proliferation Post- Ca ₃ (PO ₄) ₂ Treatment
3.3.2 Cell Viability Post- Ca ₃ (PO ₄) ₂ Treatment
3.3.3 Responsiveness of Mast Cells to Degranulation by Ca3(PO4)2 Effect
3.4 Discussion
3.4.1 Ca ₃ (PO ₄) ₂ Inhibits HMC 1.2 Cell Proliferation in a Dose-Dependent Manner without affecting viability
3.4.2 Ca ₃ (PO ₄) ₂ and MRGPRX2-Induced Degranulation43
3.5 Conclusion
Chapter 4: Summary and Future Research Directions
4.1 Key Findings
4.1.1 NaBu and Mast Cell Modulation: Insights and Future Directions
4.1.2 Ca3(PO4)2 and Mast Cell Modulation: Insights and Future Directions
4.1.3 HMC 1.2 as a Model for MRGPRX2-Mediated Degranulation
4.2 Implications and Applications
4.2.1 Implications and Significance of the Findings
4.2.2 Implications for MRGPRX2 Mediated Responses
4.2.3 Broader Implications in Immunity and Diseases
4.3 Future Directions

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Key mast cell receptors and their functions.	4
Table 1.2 MRGPR in various cell types.	7

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 GPCR activation of cell signaling
Figure 1.2 Role of MRGPRX2 in MC Activation
Figure 1.3 Role of C48/80 and A23187 in MC activation
Figure 2.1 Structure of NaBu
Figure 2.2 Schematic of all methods for NaBu effects on MCs
Figure 2.3 NaBu Inhibits HMC-1.2 Cell proliferation without affecting cell viability. HMC-1.2 cells
were cultured with NaBu (0, 0.1 and 1 mM) for a 5-day exposure time, and cell proliferation (A) and
cell viability (B) were measured ($n = 7$ for days 1 to 3 and $n=3$ for days 4 and 5). The student's t-test was
performed to determine the statistical significance (* $p < 0.01$) relative to the 0 (inactivated) samples 25
Figure 2.4 NaBu Significantly Reduces Metabolic Activity in HMC 1.2 Cells Over 3 Days. HMC
1.2 cells were treated with 10 mM NaBu, and their metabolic activity was measured over a three-day
period (n=7 for each day). Statistical significance was determined using the student's t-test (* $p < 0.01$)
relative to the untreated samples
Figure 2.5 NaBu has no significant effect on HMC-1.2 Cell Degranulation through C48/80. HMC-1.2

Figure 2.6 NaBu has no significant effect on HMC-1.2 Cell Degranulation through A23187. HMC-1.2 cells were exposed to different concentrations of NaBu (0, 0.1, and 1 mM) for 5 days and were activated with A23187 (100 mM). β -hexosaminidase release was measured to evaluate degranulation (n = 7 for days 1 to 3 and n=3 for days 4 and 5). The student's t-test was performed to determine the

statistical significance (* $p < 0.01$) relative to the 0 (inactivated) samples
Figure 3.1 Structure of Ca ₃ (PO ₄) ₂
Figure 3.2: Schematic of all methods for Ca ₃ (PO ₄) ₂ effects on MCs
Figure 3.3 The effect of Ca ₃ (PO ₄) ₂ treatment on cell proliferation over 24 hours. Cells were treated
with Ca ₃ (PO ₄) ₂ at a concentration of 0,0.1,1,5 and 10 mM, and viability was assessed at 24 hours post-
treatment. The students' t-test was performed to determine the statistical significance (* $p < 0.05$,
p < 0.01, *p < 0.001) relative to the 0 (Inactivated) samples
Figure 3.4 The effect of Ca ₃ (PO ₄) ₂ treatment on viability over 24 hours. Cells were treated with
Ca ₃ (PO ₄) ₂ at a concentration of 0, 0.1, 1, 5 and 10 mM, and viability was assessed at 24 hours post-
treatment
Figure 3.5: Ca ₃ (PO ₄) ₂ has no significant effect on HMC-1.2 Cell Degranulation through
MRGPRX2 (C48/80). HMC-1.2 cells were exposed to different concentrations of Ca ₃ (PO ₄) ₂ (0, 0.1, 1,
5, and 10 mM) for 24 hours and were activated with C48/80 (100 μ g/mL). β -hexosaminidase release
was measured to evaluate degranulation $(n=3)$. The students' t-test was performed to determine the
statistical significance (*p < 0.01)

List of Abbreviations

AC: Adenylate cyclase

ACP: Amorphous Calcium Phosphate

BCP: Biphasic Calcium Phosphate

β-hex: β-hexosaminidase

Ca²⁺: Calcium

Ca₃(PO₄)₂: Calcium Phosphate

cAMP: Cyclic Adenosine Monophosphate

CKD: Chronic Kidney Disease

CKD-MBD: CKD-related mineral and bone disorders

CRAC: Calcium release-activated calcium

CTMCs: Connective Tissue Mast Cells

DAG: Diacylglycerol

DNA: Deoxyribonucleic Acid

DRG: Dorsal Root Ganglia

ERK: Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase

FBS: Fetal Bovine Serum

FccRI: High-affinity Fc-epsilon receptor-I

FGF23: Fibroblast Growth Factor 23

GPCR: G Protein-Coupled Receptors

GPCRs: G Protein-Coupled Receptors

HDP: Host Defense Peptide

HEPES: (4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid)

HDAC: Histone Deacetylase

HMC-1.2: Human Mast Cell line 1.2

HuMC: Human Mast Cells

IBD: Inflammatory Bowel Disease

IBS: Irritable Bowel Syndrome

IgE: Immunoglobulin E

IL-33: Interleukin 33

IMDM: Iscove's Modified Dulbecco's Medium

IP3: Inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate

JNK: c-Jun N-terminal kinases

KIT: A receptor tyrosine kinase

LAD2: Laboratory of Allergic Diseases 2 cell line

LAT-B: Latrunculin B

MAPK: Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase

MC: Mast Cell

MRGPRX1-X4: MAS-related G protein-coupled receptors 1-4

MRGPRX2: MAS-related G protein-coupled receptor X2

NaBu: Sodium Butyrate

NF-κB: Nuclear Factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells

PAMPs: Pathogen-Associated Molecular Patterns

PACAP: Pituitary Adenylate Cyclase-Activating Polypeptide

PBS: Phosphate Buffered Saline

PI3K: Phosphoinositide 3-kinase

PIP2: Phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate

p-NAG: Poly-N-acetylglucosamine

ROS: Reactive Oxygen Species

SCF: Stem Cell Factor

SOCE: Store-operated calcium entry

ST2: A receptor for IL-33

STIM1: Stromal Interaction Molecule 1

TLRs: Toll-Like Receptors

TNF: Tumor Necrosis Factor

Tregs: Regulatory T cells

VC: Vascular Calcification

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Background

1.1.1 Role and Importance of Mast Cells in Immunity

Mast Cells (MCs) are innate immune cells that play a crucial role in regulating immune responses to allergies and infections. MCs are densely packed with secretory granules containing pre-formed mediators such as histamine, TNF, heparin, chondroitin sulfates, and MC-specific proteases (Albert-Bayo et al., 2019; T. C. Moon et al., 2014). Upon activation, MCs undergo degranulation, releasing the contents of granules through membrane fusion and producing pro-inflammatory leukotrienes, prostaglandins, chemokines, and cytokines (Genta et al., 2024; Urb & Sheppard, 2012). This cascade of events underscores the role of MCs in promoting host resistance to allergies and infections. Additionally, MC activation leads to the rapid release of granules and the production of inflammatory mediators, including cytokines and lipid mediators such as interleukins, which are essential for maintaining allergic inflammation (Atiakshin et al., 2022). Consequently, MCs can recognize a variety of danger signals from pathogens, tissues, and other immune cells, thereby regulating immune responses according to the stimuli they encounter (Genta et al., 2024; Suárez Vázquez et al., 2024). MCs are primarily located at junction points between the body and the external environment, such as at antigen entrance sites in the gastrointestinal tract, skin, and respiratory epithelium (Rönnberg et al., 2012; Theoharides et al., 2000).

Based on recent research, Human MC heterogeneity is better understood as a spectrum of phenotypes that vary in their protease content and tissue distribution (Tauber et al., 2023; West & Bulfone-Paus, 2022). In

humans, mast cells are primarily classified based on their protease content into three main subtypes: MC T (containing only tryptase), MC TC (containing both tryptase and chymase), and MC C (containing only chymase, which is relatively rare) (West & Bulfone-Paus, 2022). While MC T are predominant in the mucosa of the lung and small intestine, and MC TC are more prevalent in the skin, synovium, and intestinal submucosa, most human tissues contain a mixed population of MC subtypes with varying ratios. Recent single-cell RNA sequencing studies have revealed even greater heterogeneity in human mast cells. A comprehensive study identified six distinct mast cell clusters/states (MC1-6) distributed across 12 organs, each with unique transcriptomic signatures (Tauber et al., 2023, 2024). For example, MC1 are preferentially enriched in the skin and lungs, MC2, MC3, and MC4 in the skin and bladder, MC5 in the lymph node and vasculature, and MC6 in the trachea and lungs (Tauber et al., 2024). This heterogeneity extends beyond protease content to include differences in cytokine production, receptor expression, and functional responses (T. C. Moon et al., 2010; Tauber et al., 2023). The specific tissue microenvironment plays a crucial role in shaping mast cell phenotypes, allowing for plasticity and adaptation to local conditions. Factors such as embryonic origin, tissue-specific cues during maturation, and even sex can influence mast cell characteristics (Tauber et al., 2023; West & Bulfone-Paus, 2022).

1.1.2 Key Mast Cell Receptors

MC receptors are summarized in Table 1.1. Stem Cell Factor (SCF) is essential for the survival, proliferation, and differentiation of MCs. SCF binds to KIT, activating downstream signaling pathways crucial for MC development, and mutations in KIT can lead to disorders such as systemic mastocytosis (Griesenauer & Paczesny, 2017; Sandig & Bulfone-Paus, 2012). High-Affinity Immunoglobulin E (IgE) Receptor (FccRI) plays a fundamental role in allergic responses through binding to IgE antibodies and

triggering MC degranulation, releasing histamines and other mediators that contribute to allergic symptoms such as anaphylaxis and urticaria (Y. Li et al., 2022; Roy et al., 2021). The IL-33 receptor (ST2) is involved in amplifying inflammatory responses; IL-33 binds to ST2, promoting the release of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines, crucial in chronic inflammatory diseases like asthma and rheumatoid arthritis, without inducing MC degranulation (Callahan et al., 2020; Dziadowiec et al., 2024). Toll-Like Receptors (TLRs) recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and modulate the innate immune response by driving cytokine and chemokine production (Choi et al., 2023; Tsai et al., 2022). G Protein-Coupled Receptors (GPCRs), including adenosine receptors, prostaglandin E2 receptors, complement receptors C3a/C5a, and notably, the MAS-related G protein-coupled receptor X2 (MRGPRX2), mediate various physiological responses such as modulation of vascular tone, pain perception, and immune cell recruitment (Molfetta et al., 2005; Zhou et al., 2023). MRGPRX2 is particularly important for its role in pseudo-allergic reactions, as it can induce MC degranulation in response to various polybasic compounds (Krystel-Whittemore et al., 2016; Zhou et al., 2023). Degranulation is the rapid release of histamine and other vasoactive substances from MCs upon activation and is crucial to the acute-phase allergic reaction and can cause immediate hypersensitivity reactions ranging from mild itching to life-threatening anaphylaxis (Takematsu et al., 2022). However, not all receptors induce both degranulation and cytokine production; for instance, IL-33 and TLRs primarily stimulate cytokine production rather than degranulation, indicating that different receptors tailor MC responses to various stimuli, thereby modulating different aspects of the immune response (Agier et al., 2018; Pavlyuchenkova et al., 2024).

S. No.	Receptor	Function		References
1	SCF/KIT	Survival, proliferation, differentiation	Crucial for MC development; mutations lead to systemic mastocytosis	(Roy et al., 2021; Sandig & Bulfone- Paus, 2012)
2	FceRI	Binds IgE, triggers degranulation	Fundamental in allergic responses, releases histamines	(Griesenauer & Paczesny, 2017; Y. Nagata & Suzuki, 2022; Ogasawara & Noguchi, 2021)
3	IL-33/ST2	Amplifies inflammatory responses	Promotes release of pro- inflammatory cytokines, crucial in chronic inflammatory diseases	(Saluja et al., 2015; Tsai et al., 2022)
4	TLRs	Recognize PAMPs	Lead to cytokine and chemokine production, vital in innate immune response	(Choi et al., 2023; Griesenauer & Paczesny, 2017)
5	GPCRs (e.g., MRGPRX2)	Modulate various physiological responses	Induce degranulation in pseudo- allergic reactions, immune cell recruitment	(Roy et al., 2021; Supajatura et al., 2002)

Table 1.1 Key mast cell receptors and their functions.

Immunoglobulin E (IgE)-dependent and IgE-independent pathways are the two routes for MC activation. In IgE-dependent MC activation, the antigen binds to the variable region of the antibody, and the Fc portion of IgE binds to the high-affinity IgE receptor (FceRI) on the surface of mast cells. This binding leads to the cross-linking of the IgE-bound FccRI receptors, triggering MC activation and degranulation (Vitte et al., 2022; Yang et al., 2023). Although IgE-dependent signaling is the main pathway for MC activation, IgE-independent MC activation is induced by the ability of MCs to alter their responses to many other internal and external signals (Finkelman et al., 2016; Pałgan, 2023). This suggests that the various regulatory receptors act as regulators of these responses. One such family of regulatory receptors is G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) (L. Cheng et al., 2023; Suno, 2024). All GPCRs share the same seven membrane-spanning α -helical segments, which are separated into segments by alternate internal and extracellular loop regions. They convert extracellular signals into biological responses via G proteins and β-arrestins (L. Cheng et al., 2023; Suno, 2024). GPCR is activated as a result, which causes the release of cyclic adenosine 3,5-monophosphate (cAMP), the mobilization of calcium, or the phosphorylation of extracellular regulated protein kinases 1/2 (pERK1/2) (L. Cheng et al., 2023; Suno, 2024). The majority of cellular responses to hormones and neurotransmitters are mediated by GPCRs, the largest family of membrane proteins (L. Cheng et al., 2023; Suno, 2024). When ligands or agonists bind to a GPCR, they activate the associated trimeric GTP-binding protein (G protein). When activated, G proteins contain an α -subunit that binds guarantee nucleotide and hydrolyzes GTP to GDP, as well as β and γ subunit complex. As shown in Figure 1.1, the effector adenylate cyclase (AC) is activated by the activation of the G α scoupled receptors, which allows cytosolic ATP to be converted to cyclic AMP (cAMP). On the other hand, AC is inactivated when Gai-coupled receptors are activated. Phospholipase C cleaves membranebound phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2) into inositol (1,4,5) trisphosphate (IP3) and

diacylglycerol when the G α q subfamily is activated (DAG). Ca2+ is released when IP3 interacts with IP3 receptors that are present in the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. Researchers use each of these GPCR activation-related small molecules as a target to investigate GPCR function and to develop assays for the identification of molecules that can influence GPCR activity (L. Cheng et al., 2023; Suno, 2024).

A subcategory of GPCRs that triggers MC degranulation is the mas-related G protein-coupled receptor (Mrgpr). One member of the Mrgpr family is mas-related GPCR-X2 (MRGPRX2), which is highly expressed in human skin and cord blood MCs (Saluja et al., 2015). Instead of directly interacting with G-proteins, basic secretagogues, such as c48/80, activate connective tissue MCs *via* MRGPRX2 (Krystel-Whittemore et al., 2016).



Figure 1.1 GPCR activation of cell signaling. (Created with BioRender.com)

1.1.3 MRGPRX2 and its Significance

MRGPR is a large family of seven transmembrane receptors expressed in MCs and sensory neurons of the dorsal root ganglia (DRG) that have previously been studied in the context of itch, pain, and inflammation (Ando & Kitaura, 2021; Gour & Dong, 2024). Humans have four MRGPRX families (MRGPRX1-X4) and Mrgpr D-H (Baran et al., 2023; Mayr et al., 2002).

S. No.	Cell Type	MRGPR	Activation Mode	References
		(Human ortholog)		
1	Mast Cells	MRGPRX2	Degranulation	(McNeil et al., 2015)
2	Basophils	MRGPRX2	Degranulation	(Gour & Dong, 2024)
3	Eosinophils	MRGPRX2	Degranulation	(Gour & Dong, 2024)
4	Dorsal Root Ganglion Cells		Signal transmission for itch/pain	(Baran et al., 2023)
			Signal transmission for itch/pain	(Mendoza et al., 2021; Xu et al., 2022)
		MRGPRX1	Signal transmission for itch/pain	(Tseng et al., 2019)
			Regulates Mrgpr D's trafficking	(Green, 2021)
		MRGPRX2	Signal transmission for itch/pain	(Ogasawara & Noguchi, 2021)
5	Keratinocytes	MRGPRX3	Wound healing through activation of keratinocytes	(Kiatsurayanon et al., 2016)
		MRGPRX4		

Table 1.2 MRGPR in various cell types.

The basic peptides that MRGPRX2 particularly recognizes and employs to initiate the degranulation of human connective tissue mast cells (CTMCs) include mastoparan, somatostatin, c48/80, and pituitary

adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide (PACAP) (Kumar et al., 2021; Ogasawara & Noguchi, 2021). MRGPRX2 may be used to identify danger signals from cytotoxicity since the enzymatic breakdown products of intracellular proteins, such as chaperonin-10, released after cytotoxicity or cell death also activate MCs as MRGPRX2 ligands (Ogasawara & Noguchi, 2021). In addition to MCs, MRGPRX2 is also expressed in basophils and eosinophils, mediating degranulation (Babina, 2020; Toscano et al., 2023). According to one study, basophils and eosinophils strongly expressed MRGPRX2, whereas neutrophils did not (Babina, 2020). Basophils and MCs function similarly in many ways, including the production of highly specific IgE receptors and the release of histamine in response to stimulation (Shah et al., 2021). In the case of eosinophils, they are recognized to contribute to a number of inflammatory disorders through cross-talk with MCs. One research study investigated the expression of MRGPRX2, as well as its agonists, cortistatin, and major basic protein (MBP), in the lesional skin of patients where eosinophils are present (Wedi et al., 2020). Blood eosinophils express MRGPRX2, although less so than MCs, according to a study (Wedi et al., 2020).

Some studies indicate that MRGPRX2 is also expressed in dorsal root ganglion (DRG) neurons. Although MrgprA3+, MrgprC11+, and MrgprD+ are involved in the itch expression, MrgprA3+ and MrgprD+ were observed to be specifically expressed in DRG sensory neurons (Babina, 2020). A study indicates that MrgprA3+ may have dual modalities that transmit both pain and itch to the spinal cord (Babina, 2020). MrgprD+ resides deep in the epidermis and can be considered a somatosensory marker (Babina, 2020). The rodent MrgprC subfamily shares similarities with human MRGPRX1, and both are specifically expressed in small-diameter DRG neurons(Babina, 2020). Meanwhile, in the rodent subfamily of MrgprC, only MrgprC11+ was found to be expressed. MrgprE is also expressed in DRG neurons, but very little information is known regarding this receptor. It is known to have a role in regulating MrgprD trafficking

(Babina, 2020). One study suggests that MRGX3 and MRGX4 facilitate the AG-30/5C molecule to activate human keratinocytes, which can be used for wound healing. AG-30/5C is a modified form of AG-30 that activates cytokine and chemokine production (Babina, 2020). Since the AG-30 molecule is very unstable and is easily degraded by proteases, AG-30/5C has been used in the study. AG-30/5C enhanced keratinocyte migration and proliferation by inducing the release of cytokines and chemokines *via* the MRGX3 and MRGX4 receptors (Babina, 2020).

1.1.4 Role of MRGPRX2 in Mast Cell Activation

The MAS-related G protein-coupled receptor X2 (MRGPRX2) plays a pivotal role in MC activation through IgE-independent pathways, as illustrated in Figure 1.2 (Ogasawara & Noguchi, 2021; Yang et al., 2023). This receptor's activation mechanism is crucial for several physiological and pathological processes. In host defense, MRGPRX2-mediated MC activation enhances the innate immune response by promoting the elimination of bacterial infections and facilitating wound healing. This underscores the receptor's importance in maintaining host defense against pathogens (Callahan et al., 2020; Lu et al., 2021). Additionally, MRGPRX2 is involved in neurogenic inflammation, contributing to conditions such as postoperative pain, chronic itch, and type 2 inflammation. The activation of MRGPRX2 by neuropeptides leads to the release of inflammatory mediators that exacerbate these conditions, highlighting the receptor's role in neuro-immune interactions (Dziadowiec et al., 2024; Roy et al., 2021; Thapaliya et al., 2021).



Figure 1.2 Role of MRGPRX2 in MC Activation. (Created with BioRender.com)

1.1.5 Activating MCs using Compound 48/80 and A23187

MC activation using Compound 48/80 (c48/80) involves several biochemical pathways leading to cell degranulation *via* the MRGPRX2 receptor and the subsequent release of mediators. There are several pathways activated upon introducing c48/80 to MCs, including phospholipase C (PLC) and mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK). PLC activation splits phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2) into inositol triphosphate (IP3) and diacylglycerol (DAG). The release of IP3 facilitates the liberation of calcium ions from internal stores, thereby activating downstream signalling cascades vital for further

cellular responses. This process is particularly crucial for degranulation, where the elevated intracellular calcium levels lead to the fusion of granules with the plasma membrane and the subsequent release of their contents. The increase in calcium concentration specifically triggers the exocytosis of granules, a key step in degranulation, making this outcome more significant compared to other cellular responses.(Porebski et al., 2018; F. Zhang et al., 2022). MAPK pathway involves the stimulation of key kinases, including extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK), c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNK), and p38 MAPK. The engagement of the MAPK pathway is essential for regulating gene expression and orchestrating the degranulation (Dziadowiec et al., 2024; F. Zhang et al., 2022).

MC activation using A23187, a calcium ionophore, hinges predominantly on the influx of extracellular calcium ions, which leads to cell degranulation and the release of mediators. Unlike receptor-mediated pathways, A23187 directly causes the intracellular calcium levels to rise. This surge in calcium ions triggers various signaling pathways, notably activating PLC, which subsequently results in the production of IP3 and DAG. The elevation in calcium levels not only activates PLC but also prompts the further release of calcium from internal stores, thereby amplifying the signaling required for effective MC degranulation (Lee et al., 2017; Subramanian et al., 2016).

While both c48/80 and A23187 share a common pathway through PLC activation, their mechanisms of action markedly differ. C48/80 relies on receptor binding for PLC pathway activation, whereas A23187 bypasses this step, directly elevating intracellular calcium levels to trigger the pathway. These differences potentially influence the intensity and duration of MC degranulation and the profile of mediator release. Additionally, while c48/80 also triggers the MAPK pathway, influencing gene expression and mediator release, A23187 does not directly initiate this pathway, which may result in distinct outcomes in terms of inflammatory response and mediator profile (Kim & Choi, 2010; Lee et al., 2017)



Figure 1.3 Role of C48/80 and A23187 in MC activation. (Created with BioRender.com)

1.1.6 Applications of Inhibition of MRGPRX2 in Mast Cell Disorders

Targeting Mas-related G-protein coupled receptor X2 (MRGPRX2) for inhibition presents a groundbreaking strategy for addressing MC-related disorders, including chronic urticaria and asthma. MCs are crucial to the immune system, particularly in allergic reactions and inflammatory processes. When MRGPRX2 is activated, it triggers MC degranulation, releasing various inflammatory mediators such as histamines, cytokines, and proteases. This degranulation contributes to the symptoms seen in conditions like chronic urticaria, characterized by persistent hives, and asthma, marked by airway inflammation and constriction (Dziadowiec et al., 2024; Roy et al., 2021).

By focusing on MRGPRX2, researchers aim to disrupt this specific activation pathway. MRGPRX2 is implicated in MC degranulation, which plays a crucial role in the pathogenesis of asthma and urticaria (Puxeddu et al., 2024). In asthma, MRGPRX2 activation leads to airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness, while in urticaria, it triggers histamine release, causing hives and itching (Wollam et al., 2023; Yang et al., 2023). Understanding the molecular mechanisms and signaling pathways through which MRGPRX2 operates allows for the development of targeted inhibitors (Guo et al., 2023). These inhibitors can effectively block the receptor's activity, thereby preventing MC degranulation and the ensuing inflammatory response. (Lerner et al., 2024; Ogasawara & Noguchi, 2021; Wong et al., 2024; C. Yao et al., 2023).

One of the significant advantages of this approach is the specificity of the inhibition. By selectively targeting MRGPRX2, it is possible to mitigate the adverse effects associated with MC degranulation without impairing other essential functions of MCs. This specificity is crucial because MCs are involved in various physiological processes, including defense against pathogens and wound healing. Therefore, a targeted inhibitor would ideally reduce pathological inflammation while preserving the beneficial roles of MCs (Guo et al., 2023; Kumar et al., 2023).

This novel therapeutic approach holds promise not only for improving the management of chronic urticaria and asthma but also for enhancing the quality of life for patients suffering from these chronic conditions. As research progresses, the development of MRGPRX2 inhibitors could lead to more effective

and tailored treatments, minimizing side effects and providing a new avenue for managing MC-related disorders (Callahan et al., 2020; Mackay et al., 2021).

1.1.7 Overview of NaBu and Its Biological Implication

NaBu, a potent histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitor, plays a crucial role in modifying chromatin structure and regulating gene expression. By inhibiting HDACs, histone acetylation is promoted, resulting in a more open chromatin structure that enhances gene expression (Ozkan et al., 2023; D. Wang et al., 2023). Additionally, NaBu has notable anti-inflammatory properties, reducing inflammatory cytokine production in MCs (Jiang et al., 2023; MacDonald et al., 2023). It impacts various cellular mechanisms, including gene regulation through histone acetylation, and influences key signaling pathways, such as MAPK and NF-κB, essential for cell survival, proliferation, and immune responses (Y. Cheng et al., 2021; Messier et al., 2022). It also plays a role in epigenetic modifications like DNA methylation and microRNA expression, which further influence gene expression and cellular phenotypes (De Lazari et al., 2023; Sarkar et al., 2023).

There is a need to investigate the effects of NaBu on the MRGPRX2 receptor, particularly in the context of MC degranulation, due to its ability to regulate immune responses and its anti-inflammatory properties, which suggest it could influence MC activity crucial in allergic reactions and inflammation (Zong et al., 2023). The involvement of NaBu in pathways like MAPK and NF-κB, linked to MC activation and degranulation, highlights the potential for NaBu to affect MC behaviour through the MRGPRX2 receptor (Sivamaruthi et al., 2023). Nabu has been shown to regulate immune responses and have anti-inflammatory properties, but the specific mechanism has yet to be fully defined. It has been shown that MRGPRX2-induced MC activation and NaBu activities share commonalities, such as the activation of

MAPK and NF- κ B pathways. Because of this, it is hypothesized that NaBu may activate these pathways by interacting with the MC receptor MRGPRX2. The involvement of NaBu in pathways like MAPK and NF- κ B, linked to MC activation and degranulation, highlights the potential for NaBu to affect MC behaviour through the MRGPRX2 receptor.

1.1.8 Biological Role of Calcium Phosphate

The immune system relies on calcium signaling for MC functions crucial for allergic reactions and defense against pathogens, including degranulation, cytokine production, and eicosanoid generation. MCs rely on calcium influx through calcium release-activated calcium (CRAC) channels to trigger these immune responses (J. Li et al., 2024; Z. Sun et al., 2021). Recent studies have shown that $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ nanoparticles can act as effective adjuvants, enhancing both innate and adaptive immune responses by stimulating MCs to produce cytokines and other mediators (Humbert et al., 2019; Z. Sun et al., 2021). This suggests a potential link between calcium signaling and the activation of MRGPRX2, a receptor known to be involved in MC activation and degranulation. NaBu, which has been shown to regulate immune responses and possess anti-inflammatory properties, shares commonalities with MRGPRX2-induced MC activation pathways, such as MAPK and NF- κ B. Thus, it is hypothesized that NaBu may influence these pathways through interactions with the MRGPRX2 receptor, potentially affecting MC behavior and contributing to allergic reactions and inflammation (Zong et al., 2023; Sivamaruthi et al., 2023). Existing research supports this hypothesis, indicating that further investigation into the effects of NaBu on the MRGPRX2 receptor is warranted.

1.1.9 Transformed Human Mast cells: HMC 1.2 cell line

The HMC-1.2 cell line is a subline of the original HMC-1 cell line, which was derived from a patient with mast cell leukemia. HMC-1 cells are notable for their metachromatic granules containing histamine and tryptase, and they exhibit many characteristics of tissue mast cells. The HMC-1.2 subline specifically harbors two mutations in the KIT gene: V560G and D816V. These mutations result in constitutive phosphorylation of KIT, which is crucial for the cells' growth and survival in the absence of stem cell factor (SCF) (Arock et al., 2018; Sundström et al., 2003).

HMC-1.2 cells rapidly proliferate, have a stable phenotype, and are a model for studying the pathophysiology of mast cell-related diseases and the effects of various therapeutic agents. The presence of the KIT D816V mutation in HMC-1.2 cells makes them particularly relevant for studying systemic mastocytosis and other conditions driven by KIT mutations (Arock et al., 2018). The Mas-related G-protein-coupled receptor X2 (MRGPRX2) is prominently expressed in mast cells and is involved in degranulation upon binding with various ligands. However, the expression and functionality of MRGPRX2 in HMC-1.2 cells have been subjects of debate.

Recent studies have demonstrated that HMC-1.2 cells do express MRGPRX2 at lower levels compared to other human mast cell lines like LAD2 and HuMC. Functional assays have shown that HMC-1.2 cells can undergo degranulation in response to MRGPRX2-specific stimuli, such as c48/80 (Arock et al., 2018; Hermans et al., 2021).

1.2 Hypothesis

Sodium butyrate and calcium phosphate are hypothesized to modulate MRGPRX2-mediated activation in HMC 1.2 cells, influencing mast cell proliferation, viability and degranulation.

1.3 Research Objectives

This thesis focuses on the influence of biomolecules on MRGPRX2-mediated activation of transformed human MCs (HMC 1.2). The objectives of this thesis are as follows:

- To examine the impact of Sodium Butyrate on MRGPRX2-mediated and calcium signalingmediated proliferation, viability, and degranulation in transformed human mast cells.
- To evaluate the effect of Calcium Phosphate on MRGPRX2-mediated proliferation, viability, and degranulation in transformed human mast cells.

1.4 Organization of Thesis

This thesis presents an investigation into the effects of sodium butyrate and calcium phosphate on MRGPRX2-mediated activation of transformed human mast cells (HMC 1.2). Organized into four chapters: Chapter 1 is an introduction to the research topic, background information, and the significance of the study; Chapter 2 is focused on the effect of Sodium Butyrate on MRGPRX2-mediated and calcium signaling-mediated degranulation in HMC 1.2 cells; Chapter 3, is where the effect of Calcium Phosphate on MRGPRX2-mediated degranulation in HMC 1.2 cells is given; Chapter 4, is where the research findings are summarized and future work outlined.

Chapter 2: Sodium Butyrate Inhibits Cell Proliferation and Viability at High Concentrations in Transformed Human Mast Cells Without Impacting MRGPRX2-Induced Degranulation

2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 Chemical Properties of NaBu

NaBu (C₄H₇NaO₂) is highly soluble in water and has a molecular weight of 110.09 g/mol. This high solubility facilitates swift cellular absorption and subsequent utilization, making it an effective compound for various biological applications. NaBu is widely recognized for influencing the function of various immune cells, including macrophages, dendritic cells, and T cells. For instance, NaBu can inhibit the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-6 from macrophages and dendritic cells, thereby exerting anti-inflammatory effects (Kushwaha et al., 2022; Nicese et al., 2023). Additionally, NaBu promotes the differentiation of regulatory T cells (Tregs), which play a crucial role in maintaining immune homeostasis and preventing chronic inflammation (Mayorga-Ramos et al., 2022). NaBu also supports gut health by maintaining intestinal barrier integrity and reducing inflammation, which is crucial for preventing metabolic disorders.



Figure 2.1 Structure of NaBu.

2.1.2 Biological Functions of NaBu

HDACs are enzymes that typically remove acetyl groups from histone proteins, leading to chromatin condensation and suppression of gene activity. As a potent HDACi, NaBu plays a pivotal role in the modulation of chromatin structure and gene expression. The inhibition of these enzymes by NaBu results in enhanced histone acetylation, promoting a more open chromatin conformation that supports increased gene expression (Folkerts, Redegeld, et al., 2020).

Moreover, NaBu exhibits notable anti-inflammatory properties. It regulates immune responses by curtailing the production of inflammatory cytokines and modulating the activity of various immune cells. For instance, NaBu has been shown to inhibit the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-6 from macrophages and dendritic cells, thereby exerting anti-inflammatory effects (MacDonald et al., 2023; K. Nagata et al., 2024). Additionally, NaBu promotes the differentiation of regulatory T cells (Tregs), which play a crucial role in maintaining immune homeostasis and preventing chronic inflammation (Uranga et al., 2020).

2.1.3 NaBu in Mast Cells

NaBu has been shown to significantly impact mast cell (MC) function, particularly in the context of degranulation and cytokine production. MCs are critical effector cells in allergic reactions and other immune responses, releasing various inflammatory mediators upon activation. NaBu inhibits both IgEand non-IgE-mediated MC degranulation, reducing the release of histamine and other pro-inflammatory cytokines (Kaag & Lorentz, 2023). This inhibition is achieved through the suppression of HDACs, leading to changes in gene expression that reduce MC activation.

Recent studies have highlighted the role of NaBu in modulating MC activity through the Mas-related G protein-coupled receptor X2 (MRGPRX2) (Dziadowiec et al., 2024; Ogasawara & Noguchi, 2021). MRGPRX2 is a receptor that mediates non-IgE-dependent MC degranulation in response to various stimuli, including neuropeptides and basic molecules (Callahan et al., 2020; Ogasawara & Noguchi, 2021). Understanding the role of NaBu in MRGPRX2-mediated MC degranulation is crucial because it offers insights into potential therapeutic strategies for conditions characterized by excessive MC activation, such as chronic urticaria and other allergic diseases.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 HMC 1.2 Cell Culture and Maintenance

HMC-1.2 cells, generously provided by John Butterfield from the University of Pennsylvania, were cultured in Iscove's Modified Dulbecco's Medium (IMDM) from Life Technologies, New York, United States. The medium was supplemented with 5% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin.
The cells were passaged 2-3 times a week and maintained at a density of $1 \ge 10^5$ to $1 \ge 10^6$ cells/mL at 37 °C.

2.2.2 NaBu Treatment

HMC 1.2 cells were cultured at a concentration of 5×10^5 cells in 5 mL of IMDM media. The cells were treated with NaBu (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON, Canada) at varying concentrations (0, 0.1, 1, and 10 mM) by preparing a NaBu stock solution in PBS. This culture was maintained for five days.

2.2.3 Cell Proliferation and Viability Assessed Using the Trypan Blue Exclusion Method

HMC-1.2 cells were seeded at 1×10^5 cells/mL density and incubated with 0, 0.1 and 1 mM NaBu for 1 to 5 days. Cell counts were performed each day post-treatment using a hemocytometer with trypan blue dye to stain dead cells. Cell proliferation was calculated using the Equation 1:

Equation 1: Cells/mL= (Number of live cells) x (Dilution factor) $x 10^4$

Cell viability was measured using the following Equation 2:

Equation 2: % Cell Viability = [Number of live cells / (Number of live cells + Number of dead cells)] x 100

2.2.4 XTT Assay

HMC-1.2 cells were seeded at 1×10^5 cells/mL density and incubated with 0, 1 and 10 mM NaBu for 1, 2 and 3 days. At each time point (1, 2 and 3 days), 100 µL of cells were collected and added to 50 µL of XTT reagent (Roche, Laval, QC, Canada) in a 96-well plate and incubated for 4 hours at 37 °C with 5%

CO₂. Absorbance at 405 nm was measured using a VarioSkan Lux plate reader (ThermoFisher), and the results were plotted using Microsoft Excel software.

2.2.5 β-hexosaminidase Assay

HMC-1.2 cells were treated with NaBu at concentrations of 0.1, 1, and 10 mM for 1, 2, and 3 days to examine its effect on degranulation. Following treatment, cells were washed and resuspended in HEPES buffer (containing HEPES, NaCl, KCl, Na₂HPO₄·7H₂O, Glucose, CaCl₂·2H₂O, and MgSO₄·7H₂O). They were then stimulated with C48/80 (100 μ g/mL) or A23187 (100mM) for 30 minutes at 37 °C. After stimulation, cells were centrifuged at 200 x g for 5 minutes to separate them from the supernatant. The β -hexosaminidase activity in both the supernatant and the cell pellet was assessed by incubating the samples with Poly-N-acetylglucosamine (p-NAG) for 1.5 hours, followed by the addition of Glycine buffer (pH 10.7). Absorbance was measured at 405 nm and 570 nm using a Varioskan plate reader (ThermoFisher Scientific, Mississauga, ON, Canada) at 37 °C.



Figure 2.2 Schematic of all methods for NaBu effects on MCs. (Created with BioRender.com)

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Cell Proliferation and Viability Post-NaBu Treatment

NaBu inhibited cell proliferation in a concentration-dependent manner (Figure 2.3), where cell proliferation was reduced from 0.1 mM (Figure C, appendix) to 1 mM NaBu in HMC-1.2 cell culture. Specifically, HMC-1.2 cells treated with 1 mM NaBu showed a marked decrease in proliferation over the 5-day exposure period when compared to untreated cells (Figure 2.3A). Cell viability was not significantly affected and remained over 80% at all concentrations of NaBu, indicating that NaBu inhibits cell proliferation without inducing cytotoxicity (Figure 2.3B).



Figure 2.3 NaBu Inhibits HMC-1.2 Cell proliferation without affecting cell viability. HMC-1.2 cells were cultured with NaBu (0, 0.1 and 1 mM) for a 5-day exposure time, and cell proliferation (A) and cell viability (B) were measured (n = 7 for days 1 to 3 and n=3 for days 4 and 5). The student's t-test was performed to determine the statistical significance (*p < 0.01) relative to the 0 (inactivated) samples.

2.3.2 Metabolic Activity Effect Post-NaBu Treatment

The metabolic activity of HMC 1.2 cells treated with 10 mM NaBu shows a marked reduction over a three-day period compared to untreated (0 mM NaBu) control cells (Figure 2.4). On day 1, the metabolic activity of the treated cells decreased by 20%, demonstrating an initial impact of NaBu on cellular metabolism. This reduction in metabolic activity became more pronounced by day 2, with a 67% decrease relative to the control observed, indicating a progressive impairment of cellular functions. By day 3, the metabolic activity of the NaBu-treated HMC 1.2 cells was reduced by 87%, highlighting a significant (P < 0.01) and sustained inhibitory effect. These results clearly indicate that NaBu exerts a time-dependent reduction in the metabolic activity of HMC-1.2 cells, emphasizing its potent impact on cellular metabolic processes over prolonged exposure. It is important to note that NaBu at a concentration of 10 mM was toxic to the cells, especially after 3 days, contributing significantly to the observed decrease in metabolic activity. The significant decrease in metabolic activity over the three-day period underscores the potential of NaBu to modulate cellular metabolism significantly (P < 0.01).



Figure 2.4 NaBu Significantly Reduces Metabolic Activity in HMC 1.2 Cells Over 3 Days. HMC 1.2 cells were treated with 10 mM NaBu, and their metabolic activity was measured over a three-day period (n=7 for each day). Statistical significance was determined using the student's t-test (*p < 0.01) relative to the untreated samples.

2.3.3 NaBu-induced Mast Cells Degranulation

NaBu did not affect the degranulation of HMC-1.2 cells through MRGPRX2 activation. This conclusion is based on experiments where cells treated with NaBu and subsequently stimulated with either C48/80 (as shown in Figure 2.5) or A23187 (as shown in Figure 2.6) exhibited no significant changes in the release of β -hexosaminidase (degranulation marker). In the provided graphs, "0 (Inactivated)" refers to untreated HMC 1.2 cells that were not subjected to activation by C48/80 (Figure 2.5) or A23187 (Figure 2.6), serving as baseline controls. The "0" condition represents untreated cells that were activated by either C48/80 or A23187, illustrating the typical response to these stimuli. For the conditions labeled "0.1" and "1", HMC 1.2 cells were treated with 0.1 mM and 1 mM concentrations of NaBu, respectively, after being activated by C48/80 or A23187. Despite these treatments, there were no significant differences observed in the levels of β -hexosaminidase release compared to the untreated, activated controls.



Figure 2.5 NaBu has no significant effect on HMC-1.2 Cell Degranulation through C48/80. HMC-1.2 cells were exposed to different concentrations of NaBu (0, 0.1, and 1 mM) for 5 days and were activated with C48/80 (100 μ g/mL). β -hexosaminidase release was measured to evaluate degranulation (n = 7 for days 1 to 3 and n=3 for days 4 and 5). The student's t-test was performed to determine the statistical significance (*p < 0.01) relative to the 0 (inactivated) samples.



Figure 2.6 NaBu has no significant effect on HMC-1.2 Cell Degranulation through A23187. HMC-1.2 cells were exposed to different concentrations of NaBu (0, 0.1, and 1 mM) for 5 days and were activated with A23187 (100 mM). β -hexosaminidase release was measured to evaluate degranulation (n = 7 for days 1 to 3 and n=3 for days 4 and 5). The student's t-test was performed to determine the statistical significance (*p < 0.01) relative to the 0 (inactivated) samples.

2.4 Discussion

2.4.1 NaBu Inhibits Proliferation but not Viability at lower Concentrations

NaBu's ability to inhibit cell proliferation without significantly affecting cell viability at 0.1 and 1 mM concentrations (Figure 2.3) highlights its potential as a selective therapeutic agent. The observed concentration-dependent inhibition aligns with previous studies where NaBu has demonstrated anti-proliferative effects in various cancer cell lines (Davie, 2003; Milani et al., 2022). The mechanism primarily involves the induction of cell cycle arrest through the upregulation of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors and the downregulation of cyclins and cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs) (Archer et al., 2017). These findings suggest that NaBu can modulate cell growth by altering the expression of genes involved in cell cycle regulation.

2.4.2 High Concentration of NaBu reduces Metabolic Activity of HMC 1.2

Metabolic activity assays indicated that 1mM NaBu-treated cells maintained normal metabolic functions similar to the Untreated cells, as evidenced by consistent XTT assay results over a 3-day time period (Figure 2.4). However, it is observed that 10 mM NaBu-treated cells have lower metabolic activity over 1 day period and show a decrease in cell viability by days 2 and 3.

2.4.3 NaBu and Cell Viability

The retention of cell viability despite the inhibition of proliferation suggests that NaBu does not induce cytotoxic effects at the concentrations tested. This characteristic is particularly advantageous for

therapeutic applications, as it implies that NaBu can suppress the growth of unwanted proliferative cells, such as in cancer, without damaging healthy cells. Previous studies have shown that NaBu can induce differentiation and apoptosis in cancer cells while sparing normal cells, thus supporting its role in selective cancer therapy (Tang et al., 2017).

2.4.4 NaBu and MRGPRX2-Induced Degranulation

One of the critical findings of this study is that NaBu does not affect MRGPRX2 (C48/80) or calcium ionophore (A23187) induced degranulation of HMC-1.2 cells (Figure 2.5 and Figure 2.6). The concentrations of C48/80 (100 µg/mL) and A23187 (100 mM) were chosen based on the data in Figures A and B in the Appendices section, where the most degranulation was observed at these concentrations. The lack of effect on MRGPRX2-induced degranulation suggests that NaBu can be used therapeutically without compromising essential immune functions mediated by MCs. This finding is consistent with other studies that have shown selective modulation of immune responses by NaBu (Babina et al., 2022).

2.5 Conclusion

The results of this study suggest that NaBu does not modulate MRGPRX2-mediated activation in HMC 1.2 cells, indicating that the expected degranulation and inflammatory responses were not influenced by this compound. One possible explanation for these findings is that the mechanism by which NaBu exerts its anti-inflammatory effects might not involve direct interaction with MRGPRX2 or its downstream signaling pathways. Instead, NaBu might predominantly act on other receptors or through systemic metabolic pathways that were not the focus of this study (Hermans et al., 2021). Additionally, the cellular context and specific receptor environment in HMC 1.2 cells might limit the efficacy of NaBu, as different

cell types and receptors can exhibit varying sensitivity to HDAC inhibition and short-chain fatty acids (M. Li et al., 2018; Zou et al., 2021). Other than this, NaBu did inhibit cell proliferation without affecting viability, which supports existing studies (Qiu et al., 2017). These results highlight the necessity for further investigation to delineate the precise pathways and conditions under which NaBu can modulate immune cell function and receptor-mediated responses (Kushwaha et al., 2022; Siddiqui & Cresci, 2021; Xi et al., 2021).

Chapter 3: Calcium Phosphate (Ca₃(PO₄)₂) Inhibits Cell Proliferation Without Affecting Viability and Has No Significant Effect on MRGPRX2-Induced Degranulation in Transformed Human Mast Cells

3.1 Introduction

3.1.1 Chemical Structure of Ca₃(PO₄)₂

Calcium phosphate (Ca₃(PO₄)₂) is a calcium salt of phosphoric acid and exists in various forms, including tricalcium phosphate and hydroxyapatite (Mishchenko et al., 2023; Yasar et al., 2021). The structure of Ca₃(PO₄)₂ can also include hydroxide (OH⁻) and carbonate (CO₃²⁻) ions in some forms, such as hydroxyapatite and amorphous calcium phosphate (ACP) (Mishchenko et al., 2023; Yasar et al., 2021). In MC, Ca₃(PO₄)₂ plays a crucial role in the regulation of calcium mobilization, which is essential for various cellular functions, including degranulation and cytokine production. The mobilization of calcium ions in MCs is tightly regulated by store-operated calcium entry (SOCE) mechanisms, involving the interaction of stromal interaction molecule 1 (STIM1) and Orai1 channels, which are critical for maintaining calcium homeostasis and facilitating MC activation in response to stimuli (Holowka et al., 2012; Rivera et al., 2008). Recent studies have highlighted the importance of calcium signaling in MC functions, emphasizing the role of Ca₃(PO₄)₂ in these processes (Hong et al., 2022; Liu et al., 2023).



Figure 3.1 Structure of Ca₃(PO₄)₂.

3.1.2 The Multifaceted Role of Ca₃(PO₄)₂ in Mast Cell Function and Disease

Ca₃(PO₄)₂ plays a significant role in the regulation of Mast cell (MC) functions, particularly in the context of inflammatory diseases such as uremia and psoriasis. In uremia, elevated calcium levels have been linked to increased itching intensity, suggesting a connection between Ca₃(PO₄)₂ metabolism and MC activity, although skin MC numbers did not significantly differ between uremic patients and controls (Knapp et al., 2023). In psoriasis, MCs contribute to the pathophysiology by releasing pro-inflammatory cytokines like IL-17A, which are crucial for the recruitment of other immune cells and the perpetuation of inflammation. Calcium signaling is essential for MC degranulation and cytokine release, highlighting the importance of Ca₃(PO₄)₂ in these processes (R. M. Wang et al., 2023). Additionally, Ca₃(PO₄)₂ role extends to bone diseases, where it influences osteogenesis and immune responses. For instance, nano-scaled biphasic calcium phosphate (BCP) materials have shown promise in modulating osteogenesis and

attenuating inflammation induced by lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in macrophages, suggesting potential clinical applications for bone tissue repair (Su et al., 2023). Furthermore, Ca₃(PO₄)₂ cements are actively resorbed by macrophages and osteoclasts, which regulate bone regeneration during normal homeostasis and fracture healing (Lukina et al., 2023). In chronic kidney disease (CKD), vascular calcification (VC) is a common complication, and it has been established that VC is not merely a passive process of Ca₃(PO₄)₂ deposition but an actively regulated and cell-mediated process, sharing similarities with bone formation (Ding et al., 2023). Recent studies have also elucidated that phosphate regulates fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23) in bone, affecting phosphate homeostasis and contributing to CKD-related mineral and bone disorders (CKD-MBD) (Mace & Lewin, 2023). The interplay between Ca₃(PO₄)₂ and MCs, particularly in inflammatory and bone-related conditions, underscores the potential for targeted therapies that modulate calcium homeostasis to treat these diseases.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Cell lines used (HMC 1.2) and their Maintenance

HMC-1.2 cells were maintained the same as described in Section 2.2.1 of Chapter 2.

3.2.2 Ca₃(PO₄)₂ Treatment

HMC 1.2 cells were grown at a density of 5 x 10^5 cells in 5 mL of IMDM medium. They were exposed to different concentrations of Ca₃(PO₄)₂ (0, 0.1, 1, 5, and 10 mM) prepared from a Ca₃(PO₄)₂ stock solution in PBS. The culture was incubated for 24 hours.

3.2.3 Cell Proliferation and Viability Assessed Using the Trypan Blue

Exclusion Method

HMC-1.2 cells were seeded at 1×10^5 cells/mL density and incubated with 0, 0.1, 5 and 10 mM Ca₃(PO₄)₂ for 24 hours. Cell counts were performed post-treatment using a hemocytometer with trypan blue dye to stain dead cells. The same formula was used for Cell Proliferation and Cell viability calculations, as indicated in Section 2.2.3 of Chapter 2.

3.2.4 β-hexosaminidase Assay

HMC-1.2 cells were treated with $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ at concentrations of 0.1, 1, 5, and 10 mM for 24 hours to examine its effect on degranulation by activating them by C48/80 (). The same procedure was followed as mentioned in section 2.2.5 of Chapter 2.



Figure 3.2: Schematic of all methods for Ca₃(PO₄)₂ effects on MCs. (Created with BioRender.com)

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Cell Proliferation Post- Ca₃(PO₄)₂ Treatment

HMC 1.2 cells treated with $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ exhibited a dose-dependent decrease in cell proliferation over a 24hour period, compared to untreated (0 mM) control cells (Figure 3.3). Specifically, at concentrations of 0.1 and 1 mM $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$, cell growth was reduced by 20%. This inhibitory effect on cell proliferation became more pronounced at higher concentrations, with a 25% reduction observed at 5 mM and a significant 44% decrease at 10 mM $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ in comparison with the untreated control. These results indicate that higher concentrations of $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ impede cell proliferation, suggesting a concentrationdependent cytostatic effect on HMC 1.2 cells. The findings underscore the potential impact of $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ on cell growth regulation, highlighting its role in modulating cellular proliferation at varying concentrations.



Figure 3.3 The effect of $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ *treatment on cell proliferation over 24 hours. Cells were treated with* $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ *at a concentration of* 0, 0.1, 1, 5 *and* 10 *mM, and viability was assessed at* 24 *hours post-treatment. The students' t-test was performed to determine the statistical significance (*p < 0.05,* **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001) relative to the 0 (Inactivated) samples.

3.3.2 Cell Viability Post- Ca₃(PO₄)₂ Treatment

HMC 1.2 viability after being treated with varying concentrations of $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ exhibited a slight reduction with increasing concentration; however, this decrease was not significant, with cell viability consistently remaining over 90%. This high level of viability indicates that the cells maintained their viability throughout the treatment period, even at higher concentrations of $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$.



Figure 3.4 The effect of Ca₃(PO₄)₂ treatment on viability over 24 hours. Cells were treated with $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ at a concentration of 0, 0.1, 1, 5 and 10 mM, and viability was assessed at 24 hours post-treatment.

3.3.3 Responsiveness of Mast Cells to Degranulation by Ca₃(PO₄)₂ Effect

Experiments where HMC-1.2 cells were treated with NaBu and subsequently stimulated with either C48/80 (as shown in Figure 3.5) confirmed that Ca3(PO4)2 does not significantly affect degranulation through MRGPRX2 activation. These experiments showed no significant changes in the release of β -hexosaminidase, an enzyme commonly used as a marker for degranulation. In the provided graphs, "0 (Inactivated)" refers to untreated HMC-1.2 cells that were not subjected to activation by C48/80 (Figure 2.5) or A23187 (Figure 2.6), serving as baseline controls. The "0" condition represents untreated cells that were activated by either C48/80 or A23187, illustrating the typical response to these stimuli. For the conditions labelled 0.1, 1, 5, and 10, HMC-1.2 cells were treated with Ca₃(PO₄)₂ (mM) with being activated by C48/80 or A23187. Despite these treatments, no significant differences were observed in the levels of β -hexosaminidase release compared to the untreated, activated controls.



Figure 3.5: Ca₃(PO₄)₂ has no significant effect on HMC-1.2 Cell Degranulation through MRGPRX2

(C48/80). HMC-1.2 cells were exposed to different concentrations of Ca₃(PO₄)₂ (0, 0.1, 1, 5, and 10 mM)

for 24 hours and were activated with C48/80 (100 μ g/mL). β -hexosaminidase release was measured to evaluate degranulation (n = 3). The students' t-test was performed to determine the statistical significance (*p < 0.01).

3.4 Discussion

3.4.1 Ca₃(PO₄)₂ Inhibits HMC 1.2 Cell Proliferation in a Dose-Dependent Manner without affecting viability.

Recent studies have shown that $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ can influence cell proliferation, differentiation, and metabolic activity in various cell types. Calcium ions, a key component of $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$, play a crucial role in cellular signaling pathways essential for regulating cell growth and function (DerMardirossian, 2024). Calcium signaling is involved in gene expression, enzyme activity, and cell cycle progression, which could explain the observed modulation of cell proliferation by $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ (Feng et al., 2023). Research found that higher concentrations of $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ reduced proliferation in osteoblast-like cells, similar to the dose-dependent decrease observed in HMC 1.2 cells (Z. Wang et al., 2023).

Another study showed that $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ nanoparticles could induce cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs), supporting the notion that $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ has cytostatic effects that are not cell-type specific (Jin et al., 2023). These findings indicate that $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ can modulate cell proliferation in a dose-dependent manner, with potential applications as a cytostatic agent in various biomedical fields. However, it is important to note that the effects of $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ on cell behavior can vary depending on factors such as particle size, surface properties, and the specific cell type being studied (Gou et al., 2024).

3.4.2 Ca₃(PO₄)₂ and MRGPRX2-Induced Degranulation

The findings from these experiments suggest that Ca₃(PO₄)₂ does not play a significant role in MRGPRX2mediated degranulation. The lack of significant effect by Ca₃(PO₄)₂ on MRGPRX2-induced degranulation observed in this study could be due to several factors. One possibility is that the intracellular signaling pathways activated by MRGPRX2 do not require additional extracellular calcium influx provided by Ca₃(PO₄)₂. This hypothesis is supported by studies indicating that MRGPRX2 activation primarily triggers G protein-dependent pathways leading to degranulation, which might not be heavily reliant on extracellular calcium sources (Lerner et al., 2024; Schulman et al., 2023). Overall, these findings contribute to a nuanced understanding of the factors influencing mast cell degranulation *via* MRGPRX2.

3.5 Conclusion

The hypothesis that Ca₃(PO₄)₂ would affect MRGPRX2-mediated activation of HMC 1.2 cells, thereby influencing their degranulation and inflammatory responses, was based on previous research indicating that Ca₃(PO₄)₂ has been shown to modulate immune responses and influence cell signaling pathways (Brun et al., 2023; Diarimalala et al., 2023). Calcium ions, a key component of Ca₃(PO₄)₂, are known to play a crucial role in cellular signaling, including in the activation and function of immune cells (van Dijk et al., 2023). Furthermore, Ca₃(PO₄)₂ has been reported to induce the activation of inflammasomes and influence cytokine production (J. Yao et al., 2024), suggesting potential interactions with MC receptors like MRGPRX2. Given these roles, it was hypothesized that Ca₃(PO₄)₂ could modulate MRGPRX2-mediated pathways, affecting MC degranulation and inflammatory responses. However, the results demonstrated that Ca₃(PO₄)₂ did not significantly affect the activation or degranulation of HMC 1.2 cells

via MRGPRX2, indicating that its effects might be limited or non-specific to this particular receptor and cell type.

Chapter 4: Summary and Future Research Directions 4.1 Key Findings

4.1.1 NaBu and Mast Cell Modulation: Insights and Future Directions

Sodium Butyrate (NaBu) is well-documented for its role in inhibiting HDACs, leading to increased acetylation of histones, which in turn influences gene expression profiles toward an anti-inflammatory state (Chriett et al., 2019; Davie, 2003). However, the specific interaction between NaBu and MRGPRX2 has not been extensively studied. NaBu did not affect MRGPRX2-mediated activation in HMC 1.2 cells, suggesting a complex interplay of factors governing its efficacy. Further research is required to elucidate these interactions, particularly focusing on different immune cell types and receptor-specific pathways, to fully understand the potential therapeutic applications of NaBu in inflammatory diseases.

4.1.2 Ca₃(PO₄)₂ and Mast Cell Modulation: Insights and Future Directions

Ca₃(PO₄)₂ does not induce MRGPRX2-mediated activation of HMC 1.2 cells. One possible explanation for these results is that the pathways Ca₃(PO₄)₂ affects might not involve direct modulation of MRGPRX2 or its downstream signaling. Instead, Ca₃(PO₄)₂ could be acting through other cellular mechanisms or receptors that were not the focus of this study (Amantini & Morelli, 2023). Additionally, the specific cellular context and receptor environment in HMC 1.2 cells might limit the ability of Ca₃(PO₄)₂ to influence MRGPRX2-mediated responses. The intricate signaling networks and cellular heterogeneity within different immune cell types could result in varying sensitivity to $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ (Su et al., 2023). We also observed a decrease in and one possible explanation is that $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ might influence cellular mechanisms that indirectly affect cell growth and division rather than directly modulating MRGPRX2mediated pathways. Ca₃(PO₄)₂ could be interacting with other cellular receptors or signaling pathways that regulate cell proliferation. Additionally, the specific cellular context of HMC-1.2 cells might inherently limit the ability of $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ to impact proliferation through MRGPRX2. The complexity and heterogeneity of signaling networks within these immune cells could lead to varying responses to $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$, potentially causing the observed decrease in proliferation. Further research is necessary to elucidate the precise mechanisms and pathways involved. These results highlight the complexity of calcium signaling and its diverse effects on immune cells, suggesting that further research is needed to fully understand the context-dependent interactions and mechanisms involved.

4.1.3 HMC 1.2 as a Model for MRGPRX2-Mediated Degranulation

The HMC-1.2 cell line, while valuable for studying MRGPRX2-mediated degranulation, has several limitations that must be considered. One significant limitation is its poor degranulation capacity compared to other MC lines, such as LAD2 and HuMC. This reduced capacity can hinder the detection of subtle

degranulation effects, necessitating the use of techniques like pre-incubation with Latrunculin B (Lat-B) to enhance degranulation responses (Hermans et al., 2021). Additionally, the high constitutive activity of the KIT receptor in HMC-1.2 cells may negatively influence MRGPRX2-mediated activation, complicating the interpretation of results related to MRGPRX2 functionality (Folkerts, Gaudenzio, et al., 2020; Hermans et al., 2021).

Another limitation is the variability in degranulation kinetics and the higher concentrations of agonists required to induce degranulation in HMC-1.2 cells compared to other cell lines. For instance, C48/80-induced degranulation in HMC-1.2 cells requires significantly higher concentrations and longer stimulation times than in LAD2 cells, which can affect the reproducibility and reliability of experimental outcomes (Hermans et al., 2021). Furthermore, the presence of both V560G and D816V mutations in the KIT gene of HMC-1.2 cells introduces additional complexity, as these mutations confer different growth and signaling characteristics that may not be representative of primary human MCs (Arock et al., 2018; Bandara et al., 2023; Sundström et al., 2003).

Studies have also highlighted the challenge of using HMC-1.2 cells for cytokine production studies, as MRGPRX2 activation in these cells primarily induces degranulation with minimal cytokine release, limiting their utility in comprehensive MC activation studies (Hermans et al., 2021; Z. Wang et al., 2022). Moreover, the high division rate of HMC-1.2 cells, while advantageous for large-scale studies, may lead to genetic drift and phenotypic changes over extended culture periods, potentially affecting experimental consistency (Bandara et al., 2023; Hermans et al., 2021).

To address these limitations, researchers have employed various strategies, such as using higher cell numbers to improve statistical power and employing more sensitive detection methods like single-cell RNA-Seq or CyTOF to capture subtle degranulation effects (Folkerts, Gaudenzio, et al., 2020). Additionally, the development of new MC lines, such as ROSA KIT D816V, which exhibit more consistent degranulation responses and better represent primary human MC biology, offers alternative models for studying MC function and drug responses (Saleh et al., 2014).

4.2 Implications and Applications

4.2.1 Implications and Significance of the Findings

The findings from the investigation of NaBu and Ca₃(PO₄)₂ on MC modulation reveal critical insights into the nuanced roles of these compounds in immune cell function. The most significant effect observed was a decrease in cell proliferation for both compounds, which warrants further exploration. There are several possible mechanisms through which NaBu and Ca₃(PO₄)₂ could be exerting this effect. NaBu is known to inhibit histone deacetylases (HDACs), which leads to the expression of anti-inflammatory genes and subsequent reduction in cell proliferation (Anshory et al., 2023). This pathway could involve the inhibition of specific HDAC isoforms that regulate cell cycle progression and apoptosis (Zaiatz-Bittencourt et al., 2023). For instance, HDAC inhibition can lead to the upregulation of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors such as p21, causing cell cycle arrest (MacDonald et al., 2023).

Conversely, Ca₃(PO₄)₂'s effects on cell proliferation might not involve direct modulation of MRGPRX2mediated responses. Instead, Ca₃(PO₄)₂ could be affecting other signaling pathways or cellular processes (Su et al., 2023). For example, calcium ions released from Ca₃(PO₄)₂ could interact with calciumdependent signaling pathways that regulate cell proliferation and apoptosis, such as the Ca₂+/calmodulindependent protein kinase (CaMK) pathway or the calcineurin/NFAT pathway (Wu et al., 2024). The lack of modulation by Ca₃(PO₄)₂ on MRGPRX2-mediated responses suggests that its immune modulatory effects might be mediated through these alternative pathways rather than through direct interaction with MRGPRX2. Understanding these mechanisms could provide deeper insights into how these compounds affect immune cell proliferation and function (Hu et al., 2023).

These insights are significant as they expand the understanding of how these compounds can influence immune cell behaviour, potentially leading to new therapeutic strategies for managing inflammatory and allergic conditions. The ability of NaBu to alter gene expression and promote regulatory T-cell differentiation can be particularly beneficial in autoimmune diseases, where immune tolerance is disrupted (Humbert et al., 2019; Zou et al., 2021).

4.2.2 Implications for MRGPRX2 Mediated Responses

The modulation of MCs by NaBu and Ca₃(PO₄)₂ has direct implications for the treatment of inflammatory and allergic diseases. MCs play a crucial role in these conditions by releasing histamine and other inflammatory mediators. NaBu's ability to suppress pro-inflammatory cytokine production and promote anti-inflammatory pathways offers a promising approach to mitigating allergic responses and chronic inflammation (Occhiuto et al., 2020; Sarkar et al., 2023).

Furthermore, understanding the limitations of $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ in modulating MRGPRX2-mediated responses helps refine the approach to developing treatments for allergic diseases. Identifying the precise pathways and receptors influenced by Ca₃(PO₄)₂ can lead to the development of more targeted therapies that leverage its immune-enhancing properties without unintended effects on MC activation (Che et al., 2023; MacDonald et al., 2023).

4.2.3 Broader Implications in Immunity and Diseases

The broader implications of these findings have significant potential across numerous areas of immunity and disease management. By deepening our understanding of how compounds such as NaBu and $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$ influence immune cell functions, researchers can develop innovative therapeutic strategies. These strategies aim to enhance immune tolerance, thereby preventing the immune system from overreacting to harmless substances or the body's own cells, which is a key factor in autoimmune diseases and allergies (MacDonald et al., 2023; Salimi et al., 2017). One of the promising aspects of this research is the potential to reduce chronic inflammation, a common underlying factor in many diseases. Chronic inflammation is linked to a variety of health conditions, including cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, and neurodegenerative disorders (W. Zhang et al., 2023). By leveraging the anti-inflammatory properties of NaBu and $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$, new treatments could be designed to alleviate persistent inflammation, improving patient outcomes and quality of life (Moyse et al., 2022; Ozkan et al., 2023).

Moreover, these findings can lead to better management of allergic diseases, such as asthma and allergic rhinitis, where the immune system's exaggerated response to allergens causes significant health problems. By modulating the activity of immune cells, these compounds could help reduce the severity and frequency of allergic reactions (Henein et al., 2022; Khalifehzadeh & Arami, 2020). The ability to fine-tune the immune response also holds promise for cancer therapy. Inflammation often plays a role in tumor progression, and by reducing inflammation, these compounds might help slow down or even halt the

growth of certain cancers (Tsalamandris et al., 2019; Yuksel et al., 2022). Additionally, enhancing immune tolerance can be crucial in preventing the body from rejecting treatments or transplants, thereby broadening the scope of therapeutic applications (Sarkar et al., 2023; Zhao et al., 2021).

In summary, the implications of understanding how NaBu and Ca₃(PO₄)₂ modulate immune responses are vast. They pave the way for developing targeted therapies that can enhance immune tolerance, reduce chronic inflammation, and offer better management of inflammatory, allergic, and possibly even cancerous conditions. This research not only contributes to the scientific knowledge base but also opens up new avenues for improving patient care and treatment outcomes in a variety of diseases (Sorriento & Iaccarino, 2019; M. Wang et al., 2024).

4.3 Future Directions

Future research should prioritize the detailed study of NaBu and Ca₃(PO₄)₂ to fully elucidate their therapeutic potential and mechanisms of action. The findings that Ca₃(PO₄)₂ does not modulate MRGPRX2-mediated activation in HMC 1.2 cells suggest the need to explore alternative pathways and cellular mechanisms through which Ca₃(PO₄)₂ might exert its effects. This could include investigating its impact on specific receptors in mast cells, such as the high-affinity IgE receptor (FccRI) and the Masrelated G-protein coupled receptor member B2 (MRGPRB2). Expanding research to other MC lines and primary human MCs, as well as other immune cells such as macrophages, dendritic cells, and T lymphocytes, will help clarify the broader immunomodulatory effects of Ca₃(PO₄)₂ (J. Li et al., 2024; Minaychev et al., 2024; Su et al., 2023).

Further investigations should also delve into the molecular effects of NaBu across various immune cells to understand its therapeutic potential comprehensively. NaBu has shown promise in modulating immune responses through the inhibition of histone deacetylases (HDACs), leading to altered gene expression and anti-inflammatory effects (Bridgeman et al., 2021; H.-R. Moon & Yun, 2023; Ozkan et al., 2023). Detailed studies should examine how NaBu influences the behavior, activation, and cytokine production of different immune cells in both physiological and pathological conditions. Understanding these interactions will be crucial for optimizing NaBu's use in treating inflammatory and autoimmune diseases (Che et al., 2023; Hua et al., 2024; J. Sun et al., 2024). Long-term studies on the safety and efficacy of NaBu are essential, particularly for chronic treatments. These studies should assess the therapeutic benefits and potential adverse effects or toxicity associated with prolonged use (Bawish et al., 2023; Cleophas et al., 2019). Investigating the synergistic effects of NaBu with other anti-inflammatory or immunomodulatory agents could provide valuable insights into optimizing treatment protocols. This includes exploring combination therapies to enhance efficacy or reduce side effects, which could significantly improve patient outcomes (Shuwen et al., 2023).

Advanced techniques such as single-cell RNA sequencing and proteomics should be employed to provide deeper insights into the specific pathways affected by NaBu and $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$. Single-cell RNA sequencing can reveal gene expression heterogeneity within cell populations and identify specific subsets of cells responding to treatment (McNulty et al., 2023). Proteomics can complement transcriptomic data by identifying changes in protein expression and modifications, highlighting key signaling molecules and pathways modulated by these compounds (Zheng et al., 2023). Integrating these advanced techniques will enable researchers to map out the molecular landscape influenced by NaBu and $Ca_3(PO_4)_2$, leading to the

identification of biomarkers for efficacy and safety and guiding the development of targeted therapeutic strategies (Gutierrez-Martinez et al., 2024).

In summary, a multi-faceted research approach involving detailed cellular studies, long-term safety and efficacy assessments, and advanced molecular techniques is essential to fully elucidate the therapeutic potential of NaBu and Ca₃(PO₄)₂. This comprehensive investigation will pave the way for developing more effective and safer treatments for various inflammatory and immune-mediated diseases.

References

- Agier, J., Pastwińska, J., & Brzezińska-Błaszczyk, E. (2018). An overview of mast cell pattern recognition receptors. *Inflammation Research*, 67(9), 737–746. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00011-018-1164-5
- Albert-Bayo, M., Paracuellos, I., González-Castro, A. M., Rodríguez-Urrutia, A., Rodríguez-Lagunas,
 M. J., Alonso-Cotoner, C., Santos, J., & Vicario, M. (2019). Intestinal Mucosal Mast Cells: Key
 Modulators of Barrier Function and Homeostasis. *Cells*, 8(2), 135.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8020135
- Amantini, C., & Morelli, M. B. (2023). Editorial: Calcium signaling in cancer immunity. Frontiers in Immunology, 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2023.1315490
- Ando, T., & Kitaura, J. (2021). Tuning IgE: IgE-Associating Molecules and Their Effects on IgE-Dependent Mast Cell Reactions. *Cells*, 10(7), 1697. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells10071697
- Anshory, M., Effendi, R. M. R. A., Kalim, H., Dwiyana, R. F., Suwarsa, O., Nijsten, T. E. C., Nouwen, J. L., & Thio, H. B. (2023). Butyrate Properties in Immune-Related Diseases: Friend or Foe? *Fermentation*, 9(3), 205. https://doi.org/10.3390/fermentation9030205
- Arock, M., Wedeh, G., Hoermann, G., Bibi, S., Akin, C., Peter, B., Gleixner, K. V., Hartmann, K., Butterfield, J. H., Metcalfe, D. D., & Valent, P. (2018). Preclinical human models and emerging therapeutics for advanced systemic mastocytosis. *Haematologica*, *103*(11), 1760–1771. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2018.195867

- Atiakshin, D., Kostin, A., Trotsenko, I., Samoilova, V., Buchwalow, I., & Tiemann, M. (2022).
 Carboxypeptidase A3—A Key Component of the Protease Phenotype of Mast Cells. *Cells*, *11*(3), 570. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells11030570
- Babina, M. (2020). The pseudo-allergic/neurogenic route of mast cell activation via MRGPRX2: discovery, functional programs, regulation, relevance to disease, and relation with allergic stimulation. *Itch*, 5(2), e32–e32. https://doi.org/10.1097/itx.00000000000032
- Bandara, G., Falduto, G. H., Luker, A., Bai, Y., Pfeiffer, A., Lack, J., Metcalfe, D. D., & Olivera, A. (2023). CRISPR/Cas9-engineering of HMC-1.2 cells renders a human mast cell line with a single D816V-KIT mutation: An improved preclinical model for research on mastocytosis. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *14*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2023.1078958
- Baran, J., Sobiepanek, A., Mazurkiewicz-Pisarek, A., Rogalska, M., Gryciuk, A., Kuryk, L., Abraham,
 S. N., & Staniszewska, M. (2023). Mast Cells as a Target—A Comprehensive Review of Recent
 Therapeutic Approaches. *Cells*, *12*(8), 1187. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells12081187
- Bawish, B. M., Zahran, M. F. S., Ismael, E., Kamel, S., Ahmed, Y. H., Hamza, D., Attia, T., & Fahmy, K. N. E. (2023). Impact of buffered sodium butyrate as a partial or total dietary alternative to lincomycin on performance, IGF-1 and TLR4 genes expression, serum indices, intestinal histomorphometry, Clostridia, and litter hygiene of broiler chickens. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 65(1), 44. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13028-023-00704-y
- Bridgeman, S., Ellison, G., Newsholme, P., & Mamotte, C. (2021). The HDAC Inhibitor Butyrate Impairs β Cell Function and Activates the Disallowed Gene Hexokinase I. *International Journal of*

Molecular Sciences, 22(24), 13330. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms222413330

- Brun, C., Chalet, L., Moulin, F., Bochaton, T., Ducreux, S., Paillard, M., & Crola Da Silva, C. (2023). A bibliometric analysis: Ca2+ fluxes and inflammatory phenotyping by flow cytometry in peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2023.1272809
- Burchett, J. R., Dailey, J. M., Kee, S. A., Pryor, D. T., Kotha, A., Kankaria, R. A., Straus, D. B., & Ryan, J. J. (2022). Targeting Mast Cells in Allergic Disease: Current Therapies and Drug Repurposing. *Cells*, 11(19), 3031. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells11193031
- Callahan, B. N., Kammala, A. K., Syed, M., Yang, C., Occhiuto, C. J., Nellutla, R., Chumanevich, A. P., Oskeritzian, C. A., Das, R., & Subramanian, H. (2020). Osthole, a Natural Plant Derivative Inhibits MRGPRX2 Induced Mast Cell Responses. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.00703
- Che, Y., Chen, G., Guo, Q., Duan, Y., Feng, H., & Xia, Q. (2023). Gut microbial metabolite butyrate improves anticancer therapy by regulating intracellular calcium homeostasis. *Hepatology*, 78(1), 88–102. https://doi.org/10.1097/HEP.0000000000000047
- Cheng, L., Xia, F., Li, Z., Shen, C., Yang, Z., Hou, H., Sun, S., Feng, Y., Yong, X., Tian, X., Qin, H., Yan, W., & Shao, Z. (2023). Structure, function and drug discovery of GPCR signaling. *Molecular Biomedicine*, 4(1), 46. https://doi.org/10.1186/s43556-023-00156-w
- Cheng, Y., Liu, M., Hu, M., & Wang, S. (2021). TAD-like single-cell domain structures exist on both active and inactive X chromosomes and persist under epigenetic perturbations. *Genome Biology*,

22(1), 309. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-021-02523-8

- Choi, Y. J., Yoo, J.-S., Jung, K., Rice, L., Kim, D., Zlojutro, V., Frimel, M., Madden, E., Choi, U. Y., Foo, S.-S., Choi, Y., Jiang, Z., Johnson, H., Kwak, M.-J., Kang, S., Hong, B., Seo, G. J., Kim, S., Lee, S.-A., ... Jung, J. U. (2023). Lung-specific MCEMP1 functions as an adaptor for KIT to promote SCF-mediated mast cell proliferation. *Nature Communications*, *14*(1), 2045. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-023-37873-3
- Chriett, S., Dąbek, A., Wojtala, M., Vidal, H., Balcerczyk, A., & Pirola, L. (2019). Prominent action of butyrate over β-hydroxybutyrate as histone deacetylase inhibitor, transcriptional modulator and anti-inflammatory molecule. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 742. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-36941-9
- Cildir, G., Pant, H., Lopez, A. F., & Tergaonkar, V. (2017). The transcriptional program, functional heterogeneity, and clinical targeting of mast cells. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 214(9), 2491–2506. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20170910
- Cleophas, M. C. P., Ratter, J. M., Bekkering, S., Quintin, J., Schraa, K., Stroes, E. S., Netea, M. G., & Joosten, L. A. B. (2019). Effects of oral butyrate supplementation on inflammatory potential of circulating peripheral blood mononuclear cells in healthy and obese males. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 775. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-37246-7
- Davie, J. R. (2003). Inhibition of Histone Deacetylase Activity by Butyrate. *The Journal of Nutrition*, *133*(7), 2485S-2493S. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/133.7.2485S

De Lazari, M. G. T., Viana, C. T. R., Pereira, L. X., Orellano, L. A. A., Ulrich, H., Andrade, S. P., &
Campos, P. P. (2023). Sodium butyrate attenuates peritoneal fibroproliferative process in mice. *Experimental Physiology*, *108*(1), 146–157. https://doi.org/10.1113/EP090559

- Dębińska, A., & Sozańska, B. (2023). Dietary Polyphenols—Natural Bioactive Compounds with Potential for Preventing and Treating Some Allergic Conditions. *Nutrients*, *15*(22), 4823. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu15224823
- DerMardirossian, C. (2024). *The Role of Calcium in Actin-Dependent Cell Migration and Invasion in Cancer*. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.113901
- Diarimalala, R. O., Wei, Y., Hu, D., & Hu, K. (2023). Inflammasomes during SARS-CoV-2 infection and development of their corresponding inhibitors. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2023.1218039
- Ding, N., Lv, Y., Su, H., Wang, Z., Kong, X., Zhen, J., Lv, Z., & Wang, R. (2023). Vascular calcification in CKD: New insights into its mechanisms. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 238(6), 1160–1182. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.31021
- Dziadowiec, A., Popiolek, I., Kwitniewski, M., & Porebski, G. (2024). Modulation of the Mas-Related G Protein-Coupled Receptor X2 (MRGPRX2) by Xenobiotic Compounds and Its Relevance to Human Diseases. *Journal of Xenobiotics*, *14*(1), 380–403. https://doi.org/10.3390/jox14010024
- Feng, Y., Wu, D., Knaus, J., Keßler, S., Ni, B., Chen, Z., Avaro, J., Xiong, R., Cölfen, H., & Wang, Z. (2023). A Bioinspired Gelatin–Amorphous Calcium Phosphate Coating on Titanium Implant for Bone Regeneration. *Advanced Healthcare Materials*, *12*(20). https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.202203411

- Finkelman, F. D., Khodoun, M. V., & Strait, R. (2016). Human IgE-independent systemic anaphylaxis. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 137(6), 1674–1680. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2016.02.015
- Folkerts, J., Gaudenzio, N., Maurer, M., Hendriks, R. W., Stadhouders, R., Tam, S.-Y., & Galli, S. J. (2020). Rapid identification of human mast cell degranulation regulators using functional genomics coupled to high-resolution confocal microscopy. *Nature Protocols*, 15(3), 1285–1310. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41596-019-0288-6
- Folkerts, J., Redegeld, F., Folkerts, G., Blokhuis, B., van den Berg, M. P. M., de Bruijn, M. J. W., van IJcken, W. F. J., Junt, T., Tam, S., Galli, S. J., Hendriks, R. W., Stadhouders, R., & Maurer, M. (2020). Butyrate inhibits human mast cell activation via epigenetic regulation of FccRI-mediated signaling. *Allergy*, 75(8), 1966–1978. https://doi.org/10.1111/all.14254
- Genta, R. M., Turner, K. O., Collins, M. H., Wechsler, J. B., Arva, N. C., Pletneva, M. A., Dellon, E. S., & Walker, M. M. (2024). Quantification of Mucosal Mast Cells in the Gastrointestinal Tract: A Primer for Practicing Pathologists. *Archives of Pathology & Laboratory Medicine*, *148*(2), e25–e35. https://doi.org/10.5858/arpa.2023-0070-OA
- Gou, Y., Qi, K., Wei, Y., Gu, Z., & Xie, H. (2024). Advances of calcium phosphate nanoceramics for the osteoinductive potential and mechanistic pathways in maxillofacial bone defect repair. *Nano TransMed*, 3, 100033. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ntm.2024.100033
- Gour, N., & Dong, X. (2024). The MRGPR family of receptors in immunity. *Immunity*, 57(1), 28–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2023.12.012

- Green, D. P. (2021). The role of Mrgprs in pain. *Neuroscience Letters*, 744, 135544. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2020.135544
- Griesenauer, B., & Paczesny, S. (2017). The ST2/IL-33 Axis in Immune Cells during Inflammatory Diseases. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.00475
- Guo, Y., Ollé, L., Proaño-Pérez, E., Aparicio, C., Guerrero, M., Muñoz-Cano, R., & Martín, M. (2023).
 MRGPRX2 signaling involves the Lysyl-tRNA synthetase and MITF pathway. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *14*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2023.1154108
- Gutierrez-Martinez, V. D., León-Del-Río, A., Camacho-Luis, A., Ayala-Garcia, V. M., Lopez-Rodriguez, A. M., Ruiz-Baca, E., & Meneses-Morales, I. (2024). Uncovering a novel mechanism: Butyrate induces estrogen receptor alpha activation independent of estrogen stimulation in MCF-7 breast cancer cells. *Genetics and Molecular Biology*, 47(1). https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-4685gmb-2023-0110
- Henein, M. Y., Vancheri, S., Longo, G., & Vancheri, F. (2022). The Role of Inflammation in Cardiovascular Disease. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 23(21), 12906. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms232112906
- Hermans, M. A. W., van Stigt, A. C., van de Meerendonk, S., Schrijver, B., van Daele, P. L. A., van Hagen, P. M., van Splunter, M., & Dik, W. A. (2021). Human Mast Cell Line HMC1 Expresses Functional Mas-Related G-Protein Coupled Receptor 2. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *12*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.625284
- Holowka, D., Calloway, N., Cohen, R., Gadi, D., Lee, J., Smith, N. L., & Baird, B. (2012). Roles for

Ca2+ Mobilization and Its Regulation in Mast Cell Functions. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *3*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2012.00104

- Hong, M.-H., Lee, J. H., Jung, H. S., Shin, H., & Shin, H. (2022). Biomineralization of bone tissue: calcium phosphate-based inorganics in collagen fibrillar organic matrices. *Biomaterials Research*, 26(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40824-022-00288-0
- Hu, Z., Wei, F., Su, Y., Wang, Y., Shen, Y., Fang, Y., Ding, J., & Chen, Y. (2023). Histone deacetylase inhibitors promote breast cancer metastasis by elevating NEDD9 expression. *Signal Transduction* and Targeted Therapy, 8(1), 11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-022-01221-6
- Hua, X., Zhang, J., Chen, J., Feng, R., Zhang, L., Chen, X., Jiang, Q., Yang, C., & Liang, C. (2024).
 Sodium butyrate alleviates experimental autoimmune prostatitis by inhibiting oxidative stress and NLRP3 inflammasome activation via the Nrf2/HO-1 pathway. *The Prostate*, *84*(7), 666–681.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/pros.24683
- Humbert, P., Brennan, M. Á., Davison, N., Rosset, P., Trichet, V., Blanchard, F., & Layrolle, P. (2019).
 Immune Modulation by Transplanted Calcium Phosphate Biomaterials and Human Mesenchymal Stromal Cells in Bone Regeneration. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *10*.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.00663
- Jiang, D., Li, T., Guo, C., Tang, T.-S., & Liu, H. (2023). Small molecule modulators of chromatin remodeling: from neurodevelopment to neurodegeneration. *Cell & Bioscience*, 13(1), 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13578-023-00953-4
- Jin, P., Liu, L., Cheng, L., Chen, X., Xi, S., & Jiang, T. (2023). Calcium-to-phosphorus releasing ratio

affects osteoinductivity and osteoconductivity of calcium phosphate bioceramics in bone tissue engineering. *BioMedical Engineering OnLine*, *22*(1), 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12938-023-01067-1

Kaag, S., & Lorentz, A. (2023). Effects of Dietary Components on Mast Cells: Possible Use as Nutraceuticals for Allergies? *Cells*, *12*(22), 2602. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells12222602

Khalifehzadeh, R., & Arami, H. (2020). Biodegradable calcium phosphate nanoparticles for cancer therapy. Advances in Colloid and Interface Science, 279, 102157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cis.2020.102157

- Kiatsurayanon, C., Niyonsaba, F., Chieosilapatham, P., Okumura, K., Ikeda, S., & Ogawa, H. (2016). Angiogenic peptide (AG)-30/5C activates human keratinocytes to produce cytokines/chemokines and to migrate and proliferate via MrgX receptors. *Journal of Dermatological Science*, 83(3), 190– 199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdermsci.2016.05.006
- Kim, E. K., & Choi, E.-J. (2010). Pathological roles of MAPK signaling pathways in human diseases.
 Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Molecular Basis of Disease, 1802(4), 396–405.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2009.12.009
- Knapp, G., Pawelke, J., Heiss, C., Elmas, S., Vinayahalingam, V., & ElKhassawna, T. (2023).
 Traumatic Fracture Treatment: Calcium Phosphate Bone Substitute Case–Control Study in
 Humerus, Radius, Tibia Fractures—Assessing Efficacy and Recovery Outcomes. *Biomedicines*, *11*(10), 2862. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines11102862

Krystel-Whittemore, M., Dileepan, K. N., & Wood, J. G. (2016). Mast Cell: A Multi-Functional Master

Cell. Frontiers in Immunology, 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00620

- Kumar, M., Duraisamy, K., Annapureddy, R. R., Chan, C. B., & Chow, B. K. C. (2023). Novel small molecule MRGPRX2 antagonists inhibit a murine model of allergic reaction. *Journal of Allergy* and Clinical Immunology, 151(4), 1110–1122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2022.12.805
- Kumar, M., Duraisamy, K., & Chow, B.-K.-C. (2021). Unlocking the Non-IgE-Mediated Pseudo-Allergic Reaction Puzzle with Mas-Related G-Protein Coupled Receptor Member X2 (MRGPRX2). *Cells*, *10*(5), 1033. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells10051033
- Kushwaha, V., Rai, P., Varshney, S., Gupta, S., Khandelwal, N., Kumar, D., & Nilkanth Gaikwad, A.
 (2022). Sodium butyrate reduces endoplasmic reticulum stress by modulating CHOP and empowers favorable anti-inflammatory adipose tissue immune-metabolism in HFD fed mice model of obesity. *Food Chemistry: Molecular Sciences*, 4, 100079. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fochms.2022.100079
- Lee, M., Lee, N. Y., Chung, K.-S., Cheon, S.-Y., Lee, K.-T., & An, H.-J. (2017). Roxatidine attenuates mast cell-mediated allergic inflammation via inhibition of NF-κB and p38 MAPK activation. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 41721. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep41721
- Lerner, L., Babina, M., Zuberbier, T., & Stevanovic, K. (2024). Beyond Allergies—Updates on The Role of Mas-Related G-Protein-Coupled Receptor X2 in Chronic Urticaria and Atopic Dermatitis. *Cells*, 13(3), 220. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells13030220
- Li, J., Xia, T., Zhao, Q., Wang, C., Fu, L., Zhao, Z., Tang, Z., Yin, C., Wang, M., & Xia, H. (2024).
 Biphasic calcium phosphate recruits Tregs to promote bone regeneration. *Acta Biomaterialia*, *176*, 432–444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2024.01.001

- Li, M., van Esch, B. C. A. M., Wagenaar, G. T. M., Garssen, J., Folkerts, G., & Henricks, P. A. J. (2018). Pro- and anti-inflammatory effects of short chain fatty acids on immune and endothelial cells. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, *831*, 52–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2018.05.003
- Li, Y., Leung, P. S. C., Gershwin, M. E., & Song, J. (2022). New Mechanistic Advances in FceRI-Mast Cell–Mediated Allergic Signaling. *Clinical Reviews in Allergy & Immunology*, 63(3), 431–446. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12016-022-08955-9
- Liu, J., Qing, L., He, Y., Zhu, Q., Xu, W., & Wu, J. (2023). The involvement of transient receptor potential channels in mast cell activation by microbubbles. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*, 27(22), 3628–3636. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcmm.17947
- Lu, L., Raj, S., Arizmendi, N., Ding, J., Eitzen, G., Kwan, P., Kulka, M., & Unsworth, L. D. (2021).
 Identification of short peptide sequences that activate human mast cells via Mas-related G-protein coupled receptor member X2. *Acta Biomaterialia*, *136*, 159–169.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2021.09.011
- Lukina, Y., Safronova, T., Smolentsev, D., & Toshev, O. (2023). Calcium Phosphate Cements as Carriers of Functional Substances for the Treatment of Bone Tissue. *Materials*, 16(11), 4017. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma16114017
- MacDonald, C. A., Qian, H., Pundir, P., & Kulka, M. (2023). Sodium butyrate supresses malignant human mast cell proliferation, downregulates expression of KIT and promotes differentiation. *Frontiers in Allergy*, 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/falgy.2023.1109717

- Mace, M. L., & Lewin, E. (2023). Frontiers in Bone Metabolism and Disorder in Chronic Kidney Disease. *Metabolites*, *13*(10), 1034. https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo13101034
- Mackay, G. A., Fernandopulle, N. A., Ding, J., McComish, J., & Soeding, P. F. (2021). Antibody or Anybody? Considering the Role of MRGPRX2 in Acute Drug-Induced Anaphylaxis and as a Therapeutic Target. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *12*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.688930
- Mayorga-Ramos, A., Barba-Ostria, C., Simancas-Racines, D., & Guamán, L. P. (2022). Protective role of butyrate in obesity and diabetes: New insights. *Frontiers in Nutrition*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2022.1067647
- Mayr, S. I., Zuberi, R. I., Zhang, M., de Sousa-Hitzler, J., Ngo, K., Kuwabara, Y., Yu, L., Fung-Leung, W.-P., & Liu, F.-T. (2002). IgE-Dependent Mast Cell Activation Potentiates Airway Responses in Murine Asthma Models. *The Journal of Immunology*, *169*(4), 2061–2068. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.169.4.2061
- McNeil, B. D., Pundir, P., Meeker, S., Han, L., Undem, B. J., Kulka, M., & Dong, X. (2015).
 Identification of a mast-cell-specific receptor crucial for pseudo-allergic drug reactions. *Nature*, *519*(7542), 237–241. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14022
- McNulty, R., Sritharan, D., Pahng, S. H., Meisch, J. P., Liu, S., Brennan, M. A., Saxer, G., Hormoz, S.,
 & Rosenthal, A. Z. (2023). Probe-based bacterial single-cell RNA sequencing predicts toxin
 regulation. *Nature Microbiology*, 8(5), 934–945. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41564-023-01348-4
- Mendoza, R. P., Anderson, C. C., Fudge, D. H., Roede, J. R., & Brown, J. M. (2021). Metabolic Consequences of IgE- and Non-IgE–Mediated Mast Cell Degranulation. *The Journal of*

Immunology, 207(11), 2637–2648. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.2001278

- Messier, T. L., Boyd, J. R., Gordon, J. A. R., Tye, C. E., Page, N. A., Toor, R. H., Zaidi, S. K., Komm,
 B. S., Frietze, S., Stein, J. L., Lian, J. B., & Stein, G. S. (2022). Epigenetic and transcriptome responsiveness to ER modulation by tissue selective estrogen complexes in breast epithelial and breast cancer cells. *PLOS ONE*, *17*(7), e0271725. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0271725
- Minaychev, V. V., Smirnova, P. V., Kobyakova, M. I., Teterina, A. Yu., Smirnov, I. V., Skirda, V. D.,
 Alexandrov, A. S., Gafurov, M. R., Shlykov, M. A., Pyatina, K. V., Senotov, A. S., Salynkin, P. S.,
 Fadeev, R. S., KomLev, V. S., & Fadeeva, I. S. (2024). Low-Temperature Calcium Phosphate
 Ceramics Can Modulate Monocytes and Macrophages Inflammatory Response In Vitro. *Biomedicines*, *12*(2), 263. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines12020263
- Mishchenko, O., Yanovska, A., Kosinov, O., Maksymov, D., Moskalenko, R., Ramanavicius, A., & Pogorielov, M. (2023). Synthetic Calcium–Phosphate Materials for Bone Grafting. *Polymers*, *15*(18), 3822. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym15183822
- Molfetta, R., Belleudi, F., Peruzzi, G., Morrone, S., Leone, L., Dikic, I., Piccoli, M., Frati, L., Torrisi, M. R., Santoni, A., & Paolini, R. (2005). CIN85 Regulates the Ligand-Dependent Endocytosis of the IgE Receptor: A New Molecular Mechanism to Dampen Mast Cell Function. *The Journal of Immunology*, *175*(7), 4208–4216. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.175.7.4208
- Moon, H.-R., & Yun, J.-M. (2023). Sodium butyrate inhibits high glucose-induced inflammation by controlling the acetylation of NF-κB p65 in human monocytes. *Nutrition Research and Practice*, *17*(1), 164. https://doi.org/10.4162/nrp.2023.17.1.164

- Moon, T. C., Befus, A. D., & Kulka, M. (2014). Mast Cell Mediators: Their Differential Release and the Secretory Pathways Involved. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00569
- Moon, T. C., St Laurent, C. D., Morris, K. E., Marcet, C., Yoshimura, T., Sekar, Y., & Befus, A. D.
 (2010). Advances in mast cell biology: new understanding of heterogeneity and function. *Mucosal Immunology*, 3(2), 111–128. https://doi.org/10.1038/mi.2009.136
- Moyse, E., Krantic, S., Djellouli, N., Roger, S., Angoulvant, D., Debacq, C., Leroy, V., Fougere, B., & Aidoud, A. (2022). Neuroinflammation: A Possible Link Between Chronic Vascular Disorders and Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2022.827263
- Nagata, K., Ando, D., Ashikari, T., Ito, K., Miura, R., Fujigaki, I., Goto, Y., Ando, M., Ito, N., Kawazoe, H., Iizuka, Y., Inoue, M., Yashiro, T., Hachisu, M., Kasakura, K., & Nishiyama, C. (2024). Butyrate, Valerate, and Niacin Ameliorate Anaphylaxis by Suppressing IgE-Dependent Mast Cell Activation: Roles of GPR109A, PGE2, and Epigenetic Regulation. *The Journal of Immunology*, *212*(5), 771–784. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.2300188
- Nagata, Y., & Suzuki, R. (2022). FccRI: A Master Regulator of Mast Cell Functions. *Cells*, 11(4), 622. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells11040622
- Nicese, M. N., Bijkerk, R., Van Zonneveld, A. J., Van den Berg, B. M., & Rotmans, J. I. (2023). Sodium Butyrate as Key Regulator of Mitochondrial Function and Barrier Integrity of Human Glomerular Endothelial Cells. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 24(17), 13090.

https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms241713090

- Occhiuto, C. J., Kammala, A. K., Yang, C., Nellutla, R., Garcia, M., Gomez, G., & Subramanian, H. (2020). Store-Operated Calcium Entry via STIM1 Contributes to MRGPRX2 Induced Mast Cell Functions. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *10*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.03143
- Ogasawara, H., & Noguchi, M. (2021). Therapeutic Potential of MRGPRX2 Inhibitors on Mast Cells. *Cells*, 10(11), 2906. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells10112906
- Ozkan, A. D., Eskiler, G. G., Kazan, N., & Turna, O. (2023). Histone deacetylase inhibitor sodium butyrate regulates the activation of toll-like receptor 4/interferon regulatory factor-3 signaling pathways in prostate cancer cells. *Journal of Cancer Research and Therapeutics*, 19(7), 1812– 1817. https://doi.org/10.4103/jcrt.jcrt_2032_21
- Pałgan, K. (2023). Mast Cells and Basophils in IgE-Independent Anaphylaxis. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 24(16), 12802. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms241612802
- Pavlyuchenkova, A. N., Smirnov, M. S., Chernyak, B. V., & Chelombitko, M. A. (2024). The Role Played by Autophagy in FccRI-Dependent Activation of Mast Cells. *Cells*, 13(8), 690. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells13080690
- Porebski, G., Kwiecien, K., Pawica, M., & Kwitniewski, M. (2018). Mas-Related G Protein-Coupled Receptor-X2 (MRGPRX2) in Drug Hypersensitivity Reactions. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.03027

Puxeddu, I., Pistone, F., Pisani, F., & Levi-Schaffer, F. (2024). Mast cell signaling and its role in

urticaria. Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anai.2024.04.023

- Qiu, Y., Ma, X., Yang, X., Wang, L., & Jiang, Z. (2017). Effect of sodium butyrate on cell proliferation and cell cycle in porcine intestinal epithelial (IPEC-J2) cells. *In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology - Animal*, 53(4), 304–311. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11626-016-0119-9
- Rakha, A., Umar, N., Rabail, R., Butt, M. S., Kieliszek, M., Hassoun, A., & Aadil, R. M. (2022). Antiinflammatory and anti-allergic potential of dietary flavonoids: A review. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, *156*, 113945. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2022.113945
- Rivera, J., Fierro, N. A., Olivera, A., & Suzuki, R. (2008). New Insights on Mast Cell Activation via the High Affinity Receptor for IgE (pp. 85–120). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2776(08)00403-3
- Rönnberg, E., Melo, F. R., & Pejler, G. (2012). Mast Cell Proteoglycans. *Journal of Histochemistry & Cytochemistry*, 60(12), 950–962. https://doi.org/10.1369/0022155412458927
- Roy, S., Chompunud Na Ayudhya, C., Thapaliya, M., Deepak, V., & Ali, H. (2021). Multifaceted MRGPRX2: New insight into the role of mast cells in health and disease. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 148(2), 293–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2021.03.049
- Saleh, R., Wedeh, G., Herrmann, H., Bibi, S., Cerny-Reiterer, S., Sadovnik, I., Blatt, K., Hadzijusufovic,
 E., Jeanningros, S., Blanc, C., Legarff-Tavernier, M., Chapiro, E., Nguyen-Khac, F., Subra, F.,
 Bonnemye, P., Dubreuil, P., Desplat, V., Merle-Béral, H., Willmann, M., ... Arock, M. (2014). A
 new human mast cell line expressing a functional IgE receptor converts to tumorigenic growth by
 KIT D816V transfection. *Blood*, *124*(1), 111–120. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2013-10-534685

- Salimi, V., Shahsavari, Z., Safizadeh, B., Hosseini, A., Khademian, N., & Tavakoli-Yaraki, M. (2017). Sodium butyrate promotes apoptosis in breast cancer cells through reactive oxygen species (ROS) formation and mitochondrial impairment. *Lipids in Health and Disease*, *16*(1), 208. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12944-017-0593-4
- Saluja, R., Khan, M., Church, M. K., & Maurer, M. (2015). The role of IL-33 and mast cells in allergy and inflammation. *Clinical and Translational Allergy*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13601-015-0076-5
- Sandig, H., & Bulfone-Paus, S. (2012). TLR signaling in mast cells: common and unique features. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 3. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2012.00185
- Sarkar, A., Mitra, P., Lahiri, A., Das, T., Sarkar, J., Paul, S., & Chakrabarti, P. (2023). Butyrate limits inflammatory macrophage niche in NASH. *Cell Death & Disease*, 14(5), 332. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-023-05853-6
- Schulman, E. S., Nishi, H., & Pelleg, A. (2023). Degranulation of human mast cells: modulation by P2 receptors' agonists. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2023.1216580
- Shah, H., Eisenbarth, S., Tormey, C. A., & Siddon, A. J. (2021). Behind the scenes with basophils: an emerging therapeutic target. *Immunotherapy Advances*, 1(1). https://doi.org/10.1093/immadv/ltab008
- Shuwen, H., Yangyanqiu, W., Jian, C., Boyang, H., Gong, C., & Jing, Z. (2023). Synergistic effect of sodium butyrate and oxaliplatin on colorectal cancer. *Translational Oncology*, 27, 101598. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranon.2022.101598

- Siddiqui, M. T., & Cresci, G. A. (2021). The Immunomodulatory Functions of Butyrate. *Journal of Inflammation Research, Volume 14*, 6025–6041. https://doi.org/10.2147/JIR.S300989
- Sivamaruthi, B. S., Raghani, N., Chorawala, M., Bhattacharya, S., Prajapati, B. G., Elossaily, G. M., & Chaiyasut, C. (2023). NF-κB Pathway and Its Inhibitors: A Promising Frontier in the Management of Alzheimer's Disease. *Biomedicines*, *11*(9), 2587. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines11092587
- Sorriento, D., & Iaccarino, G. (2019). Inflammation and Cardiovascular Diseases: The Most Recent Findings. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(16), 3879. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20163879
- Su, Y.-C., Phan, T. T. T., Wang, T.-W., Chang, S.-H., Lin, F.-H., Hsu, T.-S., & Lin, L.-Y. (2023). Nanoscaled biphasic calcium phosphate modulates osteogenesis and attenuates LPS-induced inflammation. *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2023.1236429
- Suárez Vázquez, T. A., López López, N., & Salinas Carmona, M. C. (2024). MASTer cell: chief immune modulator and inductor of antimicrobial immune response. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2024.1360296
- Subramanian, H., Gupta, K., & Ali, H. (2016). Roles of Mas-related G protein–coupled receptor X2 on mast cell–mediated host defense, pseudoallergic drug reactions, and chronic inflammatory diseases. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *138*(3), 700–710. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2016.04.051
- Sun, J., Chen, S., Zang, D., Sun, H., Sun, Y., & Chen, J. (2024). Butyrate as a promising therapeutic

target in cancer: From pathogenesis to clinic (Review). *International Journal of Oncology*, 64(4),44. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo.2024.5632

- Sun, Z., Li, W., Lenzo, J. C., Holden, J. A., McCullough, M. J., O'Connor, A. J., & O'Brien-Simpson,
 N. M. (2021). The Potential of Calcium Phosphate Nanoparticles as Adjuvants and Vaccine
 Delivery Vehicles. *Frontiers in Materials*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmats.2021.788373
- Sundström, M., Vliagoftis, H., Karlberg, P., Butterfield, J. H., Nilsson, K., Metcalfe, D. D., & Nilsson, G. (2003). Functional and phenotypic studies of two variants of a human mast cell line with a distinct set of mutations in the *c-kit* proto-oncogene. *Immunology*, *108*(1), 89–97. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2567.2003.01559.x
- Suno, R. (2024). Exploring Diverse Signaling Mechanisms of G Protein-Coupled Receptors through Structural Biology. *The Journal of Biochemistry*, 175(4), 357–365. https://doi.org/10.1093/jb/mvae018
- Supajatura, V., Ushio, H., Nakao, A., Akira, S., Okumura, K., Ra, C., & Ogawa, H. (2002). Differential responses of mast cell Toll-like receptors 2 and 4 in allergy and innate immunity. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 109(10), 1351–1359. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI14704
- Takematsu, E., Massidda, M., Auster, J., Chen, P.-C., Im, B., Srinath, S., Canga, S., Singh, A., Majid,
 M., Sherman, M., Dunn, A., Graham, A., Martin, P., & Baker, A. B. (2022). Transmembrane stem
 cell factor protein therapeutics enhance revascularization in ischemia without mast cell activation. *Nature Communications*, *13*(1), 2497. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-30103-2

Tauber, M., Basso, L., Martin, J., Bostan, L., Pinto, M. M., Thierry, G. R., Houmadi, R., Serhan, N.,

Loste, A., Blériot, C., Kamphuis, J. B. J., Grujic, M., Kjellén, L., Pejler, G., Paul, C., Dong, X., Galli, S. J., Reber, L. L., Ginhoux, F., ... Gaudenzio, N. (2023). Landscape of mast cell populations across organs in mice and humans. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *220*(10). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20230570

- Tauber, M., Basso, L., Martin, J., Bostan, L., Pinto, M. M., Thierry, G. R., Houmadi, R., Serhan, N.,
 Loste, A., Blériot, C., Kamphuis, J. B. J., Grujic, M., Kjellén, L., Pejler, G., Paul, C., Dong, X.,
 Galli, S. J., Reber, L. L., Ginhoux, F., ... Gaudenzio, N. (2024). Correction: Landscape of mast cell
 populations across organs in mice and humans. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *221*(2).
 https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.2023057001172024c
- Thapaliya, M., Chompunud Na Ayudhya, C., Amponnawarat, A., Roy, S., & Ali, H. (2021). Mast Cell-Specific MRGPRX2: a Key Modulator of Neuro-Immune Interaction in Allergic Diseases. *Current Allergy and Asthma Reports*, 21(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11882-020-00979-5
- Theoharides, T. C., Patra, P., Boucher, W., Letourneau, R., Kempuraj, D., Chiang, G., Jeudy, S., Hesse, L., & Athanasiou, A. (2000). Chondroitin sulphate inhibits connective tissue mast cells. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, *131*(6), 1039–1049. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0703672
- Toscano, A., Elst, J., Van Gasse, A. L., Beyens, M., van der Poorten, M.-L., Bridts, C. H., Mertens, C., Van Houdt, M., Hagendorens, M. M., Van Remoortel, S., Timmermans, J.-P., Ebo, D. G., & Sabato, V. (2023). Mas-related G protein-coupled receptor MRGPRX2 in human basophils:
 Expression and functional studies. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *13*.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.1026304

- Tsai, M., Valent, P., & Galli, S. J. (2022). KIT as a master regulator of the mast cell lineage. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *149*(6), 1845–1854. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2022.04.012
- Tsalamandris, S., Antonopoulos, A. S., Oikonomou, E., Papamikroulis, G.-A., Vogiatzi, G.,
 Papaioannou, S., Deftereos, S., & Tousoulis, D. (2019). The Role of Inflammation in Diabetes:
 Current Concepts and Future Perspectives. *European Cardiology Review*, 14(1), 50–59.
 https://doi.org/10.15420/ecr.2018.33.1
- Tseng, P.-Y., Zheng, Q., Li, Z., & Dong, X. (2019). MrgprX1 mediates neuronal excitability and itch through tetrodotoxin-resistant sodium channels. *Itch*, 4(3), e28–e28. https://doi.org/10.1097/itx.000000000000028
- Uranga, J. A., Martínez, V., & Abalo, R. (2020). Mast Cell Regulation and Irritable Bowel Syndrome: Effects of Food Components with Potential Nutraceutical Use. *Molecules*, 25(18), 4314. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25184314
- Urb, M., & Sheppard, D. C. (2012). The Role of Mast Cells in the Defence against Pathogens. *PLoS Pathogens*, 8(4), e1002619. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1002619
- Valent, P., Akin, C., Hartmann, K., Reiter, A., Gotlib, J., Sotlar, K., Sperr, W. R., Degenfeld-Schonburg, L., Smiljkovic, D., Triggiani, M., Horny, H.-P., Arock, M., Galli, S. J., & Metcalfe, D. D. (2022).
 Drug-induced mast cell eradication: A novel approach to treat mast cell activation disorders? *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *149*(6), 1866–1874.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2022.04.003
- van Dijk, L. A., Utomo, L., Yuan, H., Barrère-de Groot, F., Gawlitta, D., Rosenberg, A. J. W. P., & de

Bruijn, J. D. (2023). Calcium phosphate with submicron topography influences primary human macrophage response, enhancing downstream angiogenesis and osteogenesis in vitro. *Journal of Immunology and Regenerative Medicine*, *19*, 100070. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.regen.2023.100070

- Veitch, S., & Radia, D. H. (2023). Recent Advances in the Therapeutic Management of Advanced Systemic Mastocytosis. *Diagnostics*, 14(1), 80. https://doi.org/10.3390/diagnostics14010080
- Vitte, J., Vibhushan, S., Bratti, M., Montero-Hernandez, J. E., & Blank, U. (2022). Allergy, Anaphylaxis, and Nonallergic Hypersensitivity: IgE, Mast Cells, and Beyond. *Medical Principles* and Practice, 31(6), 501–515. https://doi.org/10.1159/000527481
- Wang, D., Yang, Y., Cao, Y., Meng, M., Wang, X., Zhang, Z., Fu, W., Duan, S., & Tang, L. (2023).
 Histone deacetylase inhibitors inhibit lung adenocarcinoma metastasis via HDAC2/YY1 mediated downregulation of Cdh1. *Scientific Reports*, *13*(1), 12069. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-38848-6
- Wang, M., Chen, S., He, X., Yuan, Y., & Wei, X. (2024). Targeting inflammation as cancer therapy. *Journal of Hematology & Oncology*, 17(1), 13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-024-01528-7
- Wang, R. M., Mesfin, J. M., Karkanitsa, M., Ungerleider, J. L., Zelus, E., Zhang, Y., Kawakami, Y., Kawakami, Y., Kawakami, T., & Christman, K. L. (2023). Immunomodulatory contribution of mast cells to the regenerative biomaterial microenvironment. *Npj Regenerative Medicine*, 8(1), 53. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41536-023-00324-0
- Wang, Z., Franke, K., Bal, G., Li, Z., Zuberbier, T., & Babina, M. (2022). MRGPRX2-Mediated Degranulation of Human Skin Mast Cells Requires the Operation of Gαi, Gαq, Ca++ Channels,

ERK1/2 and PI3K—Interconnection between Early and Late Signaling. *Cells*, *11*(6), 953. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells11060953

- Wang, Z., Wang, J., Wu, R., & Wei, J. (2023). Construction of functional surfaces for dental implants to enhance osseointegration. *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2023.1320307
- Wedi, B., Gehring, M., & Kapp, A. (2020). The pseudoallergen receptor MRGPRX2 on peripheral blood basophils and eosinophils: Expression and function. *Allergy*, 75(9), 2229–2242. https://doi.org/10.1111/all.14213
- West, P. W., & Bulfone-Paus, S. (2022). Mast cell tissue heterogeneity and specificity of immune cell recruitment. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.932090
- Wollam, J., Solomon, M., Villescaz, C., Lanier, M., Brooks, J., Kim, A., Anderson, S., Freeman, D.,
 Vasquez, A., Pisacane, C., Charlot, B., Vest, A., Napora, J., Cavarlez, C., Dvorak, L., Selfridge, B.,
 Huang, L., Sainz, M., Nevarez, A., ... Boehm, M. (2023). MRGPRX2 Antagonist EP262 Potently
 Inhibits Agonist-Induced Mast Cell Degranulation In Vitro and In Vivo. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *151*(2), AB203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2022.12.634
- Wong, T. K., Choi, Y. G., Li, P. H., Chow, B. K. C., & Kumar, M. (2024). MRGPRX2 antagonist GE1111 attenuated DNFB-induced atopic dermatitis in mice by reducing inflammatory cytokines and restoring skin integrity. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2024.1406438
- Wu, L., Pei, X., Dou, Q., Su, Z., Qin, Y., Liu, C., Zhao, L., Tan, Y., Chen, Z., Fan, Y., Zhang, X., &

Zhou, C. (2024). 3D Printed Calcium Phosphate Physiochemically Dual-Regulating ProOsteogenesis and Antiosteolysis for Enhancing Bone Tissue Regeneration. ACS Applied Materials
& Interfaces. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.4c06318

- Xi, Y., Jing, Z., Wei, W., Chun, Z., Quan, Q., Qing, Z., Jiamin, X., & Shuwen, H. (2021). Inhibitory effect of sodium butyrate on colorectal cancer cells and construction of the related molecular network. *BMC Cancer*, 21(1), 127. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-021-07845-1
- Xu, M., Zhang, Z., & Lan, L. (2022). Identification of MrgprD expression in mouse enteric neurons. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 388(2), 479–484. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-022-03608-x
- Yang, B.-G., Kim, A.-R., Lee, D., An, S. B., Shim, Y. A., & Jang, M. H. (2023). Degranulation of Mast Cells as a Target for Drug Development. *Cells*, 12(11), 1506. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells12111506
- Yao, C., Ye, W., & Chen, M. (2023). Inhibition of Mast Cell Degranulation in Atopic Dermatitis by Celastrol through Suppressing MRGPRX2. *Disease Markers*, 2023, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1155/2023/9049256
- Yao, J., Sterling, K., Wang, Z., Zhang, Y., & Song, W. (2024). The role of inflammasomes in human diseases and their potential as therapeutic targets. *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy*, 9(1), 10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-023-01687-y
- Yasar, O. F., Liao, W.-C., Stevensson, B., & Edén, M. (2021). Structural Role and Spatial Distribution of Carbonate Ions in Amorphous Calcium Phosphate. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C*, 125(8), 4675–4693. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcc.0c10355

- Yuksel, B., Deveci Ozkan, A., Aydın, D., & Betts, Z. (2022). Evaluation of the antioxidative and genotoxic effects of sodium butyrate on breast cancer cells. *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences*, 29(3), 1394–1401. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2021.12.061
- Zaiatz-Bittencourt, V., Jones, F., Tosetto, M., Scaife, C., Cagney, G., Jones, E., Doherty, G. A., & Ryan,
 E. J. (2023). Butyrate limits human natural killer cell effector function. *Scientific Reports*, *13*(1),
 2715. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-29731-5
- Zhang, F., Hong, F., Wang, L., Fu, R., Qi, J., & Yu, B. (2022). MrgprX2 regulates mast cell degranulation through PI3K/AKT and PLCγ signaling in pseudo-allergic reactions. *International Immunopharmacology*, *102*, 108389. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2021.108389
- Zhang, W., Xiao, D., Mao, Q., & Xia, H. (2023). Role of neuroinflammation in neurodegeneration development. *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy*, 8(1), 267. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-023-01486-5
- Zhao, H., Wu, L., Yan, G., Chen, Y., Zhou, M., Wu, Y., & Li, Y. (2021). Inflammation and tumor progression: signaling pathways and targeted intervention. *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy*, 6(1), 263. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-021-00658-5
- Zheng, J., Li, Y., Liu, N., Zhang, J., Liu, S., & Tan, H. (2023). Multi-Omics Data Reveal the Effect of Sodium Butyrate on Gene Expression and Protein Modification in *Streptomyces. Genomics*, *Proteomics & Bioinformatics*, 21(6), 1149–1162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gpb.2022.09.002
- Zhou, Y., Xu, Z., & Liu, Z. (2023). Role of IL-33-ST2 pathway in regulating inflammation: current evidence and future perspectives. *Journal of Translational Medicine*, *21*(1), 902.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-023-04782-4

- Zong, Q., Li, K., Qu, H., Hu, P., Xu, C., Wang, H., Wu, S., Wang, S., Liu, H.-Y., Cai, D., & Bao, W. (2023). Sodium Butyrate Ameliorates Deoxynivalenol-Induced Oxidative Stress and Inflammation in the Porcine Liver via NR4A2-Mediated Histone Acetylation. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 71(27), 10427–10437. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.3c02499
- Zou, F., Qiu, Y., Huang, Y., Zou, H., Cheng, X., Niu, Q., Luo, A., & Sun, J. (2021). Effects of shortchain fatty acids in inhibiting HDAC and activating p38 MAPK are critical for promoting B10 cell generation and function. *Cell Death & Disease*, *12*(6), 582. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-021-03880-9

Appendices



Figure A: C48/80 shows the highest degranulation at 100 μ g/mL concentration: HMC-1.2 cells were exposed to NaBu (0.1 mM) for 3 days and were activated with different concentrations of C48/80 (5, 10, 25, 50 and 100 μ g/mL). β -hexosaminidase release was measured to evaluate degranulation (n = 4). The student's t-test was performed to determine the statistical significance (*p < 0.01) relative to the untreated samples.



Figure B: A23187 shows the highest degranulation at 100 μ g/mL concentration: HMC-1.2 cells were exposed to NaBu (0.1 mM) for 3 days and were activated with different concentrations of A23187 (5, 10, 25, 50 and 100 mM). β -hexosaminidase release was measured to evaluate degranulation (n = 4). The student's t-test was performed to determine the statistical significance (*p < 0.01) relative to the untreated samples.



Figure C: Comparison of Untreated and NaBu-Treated Cells Over 3 Days. This figure illustrates the morphological differences between untreated cells and those treated with 0.1 mM NaBu over a three-day period. Images of both untreated and NaBu-treated cells were captured daily using a microscope to monitor changes.